Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: September 16, 2014 ACCEPTED: October 23, 2014 PUBLISHED: November 14, 2014

# Sequestered de Sitter string scenarios: soft-terms

Luis Aparicio,<sup>*a*</sup> Michele Cicoli,<sup>*a,b,c*</sup> Sven Krippendorf,<sup>*d*</sup> Anshuman Maharana,<sup>*e*</sup> Francesco Muia<sup>*b,c*</sup> and Fernando Quevedo<sup>*a,f*</sup>

 $^{a}ICTP,$ 

Strada Costiera 11, Trieste 34014, Italy

<sup>b</sup>Dipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia, Università di Bologna,

via Irnerio 46, 40126 Bologna, Italy

<sup>c</sup>INFN, Sezione di Bologna,

Bologna, Italy

<sup>d</sup>Bethe Center for Theoretical Physics and Physikalisches Institut der Universität Bonn, Nussallee 12, 53115 Bonn, Germany

<sup>e</sup>Harish Chandra Research Institute,

Chhatnag Road, Jhunsi, Allahabad, UP 211019, India

f DAMTP, Centre for Mathematical Sciences, Wilberforce Road, Cambridge, CB3 0WA, U.K. E-mail: laparici@ictp.it, mcicoli@ictp.it, krippendorf@th.physik.uni-bonn.de, anshumanmaharana@hri.res,

muia@bo.infn.it, f.quevedo@damtp.cam.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: We analyse soft supersymmetry breaking in type IIB de Sitter string vacua after moduli stabilisation, focussing on models in which the Standard Model is sequestered from the supersymmetry breaking sources and the spectrum of soft-terms is hierarchically smaller than the gravitino mass  $m_{3/2}$ . Due to this feature, these models are compatible with gauge coupling unification and TeV scale supersymmetry with no cosmological moduli problem. We determine the influence on soft-terms of concrete realisations of de Sitter vacua constructed from supersymmetric effective actions. One of these scenarios provides the first study of soft-terms for consistent string models embedded in a compact Calabi-Yau manifold with all moduli stabilised. Depending on the moduli dependence of the Kähler metric for matter fields and on the mechanism responsible to obtain a de Sitter vacuum, we find two scenarios for phenomenology: (i) a split-supersymmetry scenario where gaugino masses are suppressed with respect to scalar masses:  $M_{1/2} \sim m_{3/2} \epsilon \ll m_0 \sim m_{3/2} \sqrt{\epsilon} \ll$  $m_{3/2}$  for  $\epsilon \sim m_{3/2}/M_P \ll 1$ ; (ii) a typical MSSM scenario where all soft-terms are of the same order:  $M_{1/2} \sim m_0 \sim m_{3/2} \epsilon \ll m_{3/2}$ . Background fluxes determine the numerical coefficients of the soft-terms allowing for small variations of parameters as is necessary to confront data and to interpolate between different scenarios. We comment on different stringy origins of the  $\mu$ -term and potential sources of desequestering.

KEYWORDS: Strings and branes phenomenology

ARXIV EPRINT: 1409.1931



# Contents

| 1            | Introduction                       |   |    |  |  |
|--------------|------------------------------------|---|----|--|--|
|              | 1.1                                | SUSY breaking in LVS  |    |  |  |
|              | 1.2                                | 1.2 Overview  |    |  |  |
| <b>2</b>     | Sequestered LVS scenarios          |   |    |  |  |
|              | 2.1 General setup                  |   | 6  |  |  |
|              |                                    | 2.1.1 $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity effective field theory           | 7  |  |  |
|              | 2.2                                | 2.2 Moduli stabilisation  |    |  |  |
|              |                                    | 2.2.1 D-term stabilisation  | 9  |  |  |
|              |                                    | 2.2.2 F-term stabilisation  | 10 |  |  |
|              |                                    | 2.2.3 Shift in the dilaton and complex structure minimum              | 11 |  |  |
|              | 2.3 Scenarios for de Sitter vacua  |   | 11 |  |  |
|              |                                    | 2.3.1 Case 1: dS vacua from hidden matter fields                      | 11 |  |  |
|              |                                    | 2.3.2 Case 2: dS vacua from non-perturbative effects at singularities | 13 |  |  |
| 3            | F-terms and soft-terms             |   |    |  |  |
|              | 3.1                                | Summary of F-terms  | 15 |  |  |
|              | 3.2                                | Local and ultra-local scenarios                                       | 16 |  |  |
|              | 3.3                                | 3.3 Soft-terms  |    |  |  |
|              |                                    | 3.3.1 Gaugino masses  | 17 |  |  |
|              |                                    | 3.3.2 Scalar masses   | 17 |  |  |
|              |                                    | 3.3.3 A-terms   | 19 |  |  |
|              |                                    | 3.3.4 $\hat{\mu}$ and $B\hat{\mu}$ terms                              | 20 |  |  |
|              | 3.4                                | Summary of soft-terms   | 24 |  |  |
| 4            | Con                                | onclusions  |    |  |  |
| $\mathbf{A}$ | Subleading corrections to F-terms  |   |    |  |  |
| в            | Possible sources of desequestering |   |    |  |  |
|              | B.1                                | Loop corrections  | 29 |  |  |
|              | B.2                                | Anomaly mediated contributions  | 30 |  |  |
|              | B.3                                | Moduli redefinitions  | 31 |  |  |
|              | B.4                                | Superpotential desequestering   | 31 |  |  |
|              |                                    |   |    |  |  |

# 1 Introduction

The simplest models of low energy supersymmetry (SUSY) as a solution to the hierarchy problem are in tension with the latest LHC results (see e.g. [1] and references therein) which are moving the bounds for sparticle masses beyond the TeV scale. We are then either in a situation where we accept two to three orders of magnitude of tuning as still 'natural', or we are at a very particular corner in the Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model (MSSM) parameter space with less fine-tuning (e.g. natural SUSY [2–4], compressed spectra [5, 6], RPV models [7, 8]), or we need alternatives to the conventional MSSM. Given this, there are various avenues to explore for addressing the electroweak hierarchy problem:

- The simplest MSSM models (e.g. CMSSM) need to be modified at low energies to account for particular corners in the MSSM parameter space with reduced fine-tuning. Or, one step further, extensions of the MSSM including extra matter and/or interactions at the TeV scale may relax the tuning of the MSSM (see e.g. [9]).
- 2. The MSSM is the correct description for beyond the Standard Model (SM) physics but the hierarchy problem is addressed by different amounts of fine-tuning through the multiverse just like the cosmological constant problem [10], where we can distinguish the following classes:
  - (a) The simplest models of low energy SUSY are realised with some two to three orders magnitude of fine-tuning.
  - (b) One just keeps the appealing features of low-energy SUSY of realising the correct dark matter density and gauge coupling unification whereas the hierarchy problem is no longer addressed. This proposal is commonly referred to as split SUSY [11] where gauginos are at the TeV scale while the scalar superpartners are hierarchically heavier.
  - (c) Dark matter and gauge coupling unification are achieved by other mechanisms and the SUSY particles are at a scale far above the electroweak scale such as an intermediate scale.
- 3. One can consider alternative solutions to the hierarchy problem such as composite models or extra-dimensional models.

Each of these scenarios has its own virtues and demerits. The first one aims at avoiding fine-tuning in the parameter space of the MSSM, but without a principle on why to favour a particular extension in a UV theory, it is in some sense a tuning in theory space which is as appealing as fine-tuning in parameter space, the others simply accept some sort of tuning.<sup>1</sup> Given this state of affairs, we are left with the unpleasant situation that at present the best argument in favour of low-energy SUSY is that other alternatives, like large extra dimensions or composite models, are looking even worse.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Particular interesting corners of parameter space for soft-terms can be obtained by invoking principles such as precision gauge coupling unification [12] or by identifying pattern in underlying UV theories (e.g. realisation of natural SUSY and compressed spectra in the heterotic mini-landscape [13, 14]).

This is a golden opportunity for string theoretical scenarios to play a role. Being the only explicit scenarios that provide a UV completion of the SM, they should be able to address the problems of the scenarios mentioned above, provide guidance towards their explicit realisation and maybe even suggest other alternative avenues.

Consistent string theories are typically supersymmetric. Unfortunately, low-energy SUSY or the MSSM are not a prediction of string theory and its potential discovery or lack of will not directly test string theory. Moreover for a high string scale of order  $10^{16}$  GeV (as hinted by standard MSSM unification and recent inflationary observations [15]), obtaining at the same time low-energy SUSY can be a challenge for model building. Another important feature is the string landscape which can potentially have an impact on the hierarchy problem. These are very important issues which can impact LHC and future collider observations. They need to be addressed systematically and within a complete string framework. This is the subject of the present article.

Fortunately progress in the understanding of SUSY breaking in string compactifications is maturing right on time to play a role. Several scenarios in which most of the string moduli have been stabilised with SUSY breaking and computable soft-terms have emerged [16–23]. Some of them are also consistent with cosmological constraints such as the cosmological moduli problem (CMP) and the realisation of de Sitter (dS) vacua. In particular, the LARGE Volume Scenario (LVS) [24], on which we focus in this article, allows for several of the above SUSY breaking scenarios in which soft-terms can be explicitly computed. Moreover, LVS is an ideal framework to build globally consistent MSSM-like chiral models for explicit Calabi-Yau (CY) compactifications with all closed string moduli stabilised [25– 28]. It is also possible to obtain dS vacua from supersymmetric effective actions [26, 29] and the string landscape allows for a controllable fine-tuning of the cosmological constant and potentially the electroweak hierarchy problem.

# 1.1 SUSY breaking in LVS

Let us briefly summarise the main properties of LVS relevant for soft SUSY breaking:

- Closed string moduli stabilisation: complex structure moduli and the dilaton are fixed by three-form fluxes at a supersymmetric minimum. The degeneracy associated with the flux quanta leads to a landscape of vacua. The non-vanishing value of the flux superpotential  $W_0$  at the minimum breaks SUSY. Perturbative and non-perturbative corrections to the tree-level effective action fix the Kähler moduli at sizes larger than the string scale (as required to control the  $\alpha'$  and  $g_s$  expansions). The Einstein-frame volume  $\mathcal{V}$  is exponentially large in string units:  $\mathcal{V} \sim e^{1/g_s}$  ( $g_s$  is the string coupling).
- *Hierarchy of scales:* LVS leads to a hierarchy of scales for masses and soft-terms [30]. In Planck units ( $M_P$  is the reduced Planck mass), the string scale is (see appendix A of [30] for the derivation of the exact prefactors)

$$M_s = \frac{g_s^{1/4} M_P}{\sqrt{4\pi\mathcal{V}}},\qquad(1.1)$$

the Kaluza-Klein scale is

$$M_{\rm KK} \simeq \frac{M_P}{\sqrt{4\pi} \mathcal{V}^{2/3}} \,, \tag{1.2}$$

and the gravitino mass  $is^2$ 

$$m_{3/2} = e^{K/2} |W| = \left(\frac{g_s^2}{2\sqrt{2\pi}}\right) \frac{W_0 M_P}{\mathcal{V}} + \dots,$$
 (1.3)

where the dots indicate suppressed corrections in the inverse volume expansion. Most of the moduli receive a mass of order  $m_{3/2}$  except for the volume mode whose mass is  $m_{\mathcal{V}} \simeq m_{3/2}/\sqrt{\mathcal{V}}$ . Hence there is a natural hierarchy of scales  $M_s \gg M_{\rm KK} \gg m_{3/2} \gg$  $m_{\mathcal{V}}$  for the flux superpotential  $W_0$  taking generic values between 1 - 100.

- Bottom-up model building: the D-brane configuration of the visible sector is localised in a particular corner of the bulk geometry, allowing for a realisation of the bottom-up approach to string model building [31]. The structure of soft-terms does not depend on the gauge theory realised in the visible sector but only on the type of D-brane configuration (e.g. branes at singularities, D7-branes in the geometric regime) as in the modular approach to string model building. The realisation of the visible sector on a cycle different from the one supporting non-perturbative effects allows to achieve compatibility of chirality and moduli stabilisation [25, 32].
- SUSY breaking: assuming a D-brane configuration that leads to the MSSM, the effective field theory allows to analyse the structure of soft-masses. In particular, the pattern of soft masses depends on the location and type of the MSSM D-brane construction in the CY orientifold compactification. If the MSSM is located at a divisor geometrically separated from the main sources of SUSY breaking in the bulk, e.g. on a shrinking divisor, there can be a hierarchical suppression of the soft masses below the gravitino mass and the lightest modulus [33]. If the dominant source of SUSY breaking is in the proximity of the visible sector brane configuration (as it happens if the F-term of the modulus of the cycle wrapped by the SM brane breaks SUSY), the soft masses are of order the gravitino mass with only mild suppressions [30, 34–36].

Generically moduli masses tend to be of order the gravitino mass. In view of the CMP which sets a lower bound on moduli masses of order 50 TeV [37–39], it is often desirable to have soft masses well below the gravitino/moduli masses although achieving this requires a special mechanism at play. We will refer to models which have hierarchically suppressed soft masses (not just by loop factors) as sequestered models.<sup>3</sup> Depending on the location of SM particles and the value of the CY volume, we distinguish three interesting LVS scenarios for SUSY breaking:

1. Unsequestered GUT scale string models: motivated by unification, if one takes the string scale to be close to the GUT scale  $10^{14} - 10^{16}$  GeV, where the range in the volume captures the uncertainty about high-scale threshold corrections, then the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>We set the VEV of the Kähler potential for complex structure moduli such that  $e^{K_{cs}/2} = 1$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>A similar suppression appears also in the context of realisations of the KKLT scenario [16].

volume is of order  $\mathcal{V} \simeq 10^3 - 10^7$  for  $g_s \simeq 0.1$ . This implies a large gravitino mass,  $m_{3/2} \simeq 10^{10} - 10^{14} \text{ GeV}$ , i.e. unobservable sparticles, unless the flux superpotential is tuned to extremely small values (tuning of up to  $W_0 \sim 10^{-10}$ ) to get TeV soft-terms.<sup>4</sup> So the generic situation without tuning  $W_0$  is that soft-terms are at an intermediate scale, roughly in the range  $10^{10} - 10^{14} \text{ GeV}$  which is the option 2c) described earlier. This scenario is safe from the CMP. The string landscape can in principle address the hierarchy problem.

- 2. Unsequestered intermediate scale strings: requiring TeV scale soft-terms in an unsequestered setting leads to a volume of order  $\mathcal{V} \simeq 10^{14}$  for  $W_0 \sim 10$ , implying an intermediate string scale,  $M_s \simeq 5 \cdot 10^{10}$  GeV. This scenario addresses the hierarchy problem, although unification has to work differently from the MSSM (see [27, 40, 41] for concrete string examples with intermediate scale unification). Its spectrum of soft-terms at the electroweak scale has been studied in [42]. It suffers from the CMP since the volume modulus mass is slightly below 1 MeV.
- 3. Sequestered high scale string models: there can be special situations in which the soft-terms are hierarchically smaller than the gravitino mass, referred to as sequestered scenarios [33]. In LVS this happens in configurations in which the SM degrees of freedom are localised in the extra dimensions, such as in models where the visible sector arises from open strings on D3-branes at a singularity. In particular, in this setup the F-term of the SM cycle vanishes and the dominant F-terms are associated with other moduli (the volume modulus, the dilaton and other Kähler and complex structure moduli). However the dominant F-terms couple very weakly to the visible sector because of their bulk separation, and this produces a hierarchy between the soft-terms and the gravitino mass. Typically gaugino masses are of order  $M_{1/2} \simeq m_{3/2}/\mathcal{V}$ , whereas scalar masses can be as suppressed as the gaugino masses or hierarchically larger by a power  $\mathcal{V}^{1/2}$  (leading to a split SUSY scenario in this last case). This makes these models very attractive for phenomenology since they feature TeV scale soft-terms and no CMP for  $\mathcal{V} \simeq 10^7$  and  $W_0 \simeq 50$  which give  $M_{1/2} \simeq 1$  TeV,  $m_{3/2} \simeq 10^{10} \,\text{GeV}$  and  $m_{\mathcal{V}} \simeq 5 \cdot 10^6 \,\text{GeV}$ . The unification scale in these models is set by the winding scale  $M_W = 2\pi \sqrt{\pi g_s} M_P / \mathcal{V}^{1/3}$  [43, 44] which turns out to be of the same order of the standard GUT scale. The appearance of this hierarchical suppression of soft masses is subject to the structure of the effective supergravity. Changes to the EFT at loop or non-perturbative level (see for instance [34, 35, 45-47]) can lead to desequestering. In appendix  $\mathbf{B}$  we comment more explicitly on possible sources for desequestering and focus for the remainder of this paper on constructions where these desequestering effects can be absent.

#### 1.2 Overview

In this paper our focus shall be on the last of the three scenarios described above: sequestered models. In [33] it was realised that soft-terms can potentially be sensitive to the

 $<sup>{}^{4}\</sup>mathrm{TeV}$  scale soft masses in this scenario would lead to light moduli which suffer from the CMP since  $m_{\mathcal{V}}\simeq 10\,\mathrm{GeV}.$ 

mechanism responsible for achieving a dS minimum. Lack of a controlled understanding of the way to get dS vacua made it difficult to present a complete analysis of the SUSY phenomenology. Recently there has been progress in obtaining dS vacua from supersymmetric effective actions [26–29, 48]. In this paper we work out this dependence on the uplifting mechanism in sequestered models. As previously, we assume an MSSM spectrum from the local D-brane configuration for simplicity. To perform the lengthy soft-term computations we have developed a code called LargeVol.<sup>5</sup>

We explicitly compute all soft-terms for sequestered scenarios identifying different cases depending on the mechanism to obtain dS vacua and the moduli-dependence of the Kähler metric for matter fields. Broadly, we find two classes of models: scenarios in which all softterms are of order  $m_{3/2}/\mathcal{V}$  and scenarios where gaugino masses and A-terms are of this order but scalar masses are of order  $m_{3/2}/\mathcal{V}^{1/2}$ . In both cases the numerical coefficients of the soft-terms are determined by background fluxes and therefore can be tuned by scanning through the landscape. This provides an explicit mechanism for the (small) tuning that might be necessary to confront LHC data. In the first class of models the spectrum is similar to standard MSSM spectra with soft-terms of the same order but with the potential of extra non-universal flux dependent contribution. The second one gives a universal mini split scenario with negligible non-universalities. We leave a detailed study of the LHC phenomenology of these models to a companion article [49].

The rest of this paper is organised as follows. Section 2 contains the detailed setup that leads to sequestered LVS models and a presentation of two mechanisms to obtain dS vacua. We then compute the leading order expressions of the associated F-terms and soft-masses for these scenarios in section 3 before concluding in section 4. Finally in appendix A we present subleading corrections to F-terms while in appendix B we comment on possible sources of desequestering.

# 2 Sequestered LVS scenarios

#### 2.1 General setup

Let us outline a setup in type IIB CY flux compactifications with O3/O7-planes that leads to moduli stabilisation à la LVS and a visible sector sequestered from SUSY breaking:

• The simplest LVS vacua can be obtained for a CY with negative Euler number and at least one blow-up of a point-like singularity [50]. For these manifolds the volume  $\mathcal{V}$  is of Swiss-cheese type

$$\mathcal{V} = \alpha_b \tau_b^{3/2} - \sum_i \alpha_i \tau_i^{3/2} \,, \tag{2.1}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>LargeVol is a Mathematica Package useful to analyse the phenomenology of various type IIB supergravity theories. It computes and minimises the scalar potential following the LVS mechanism for moduli fixing. LargeVol can calculate F-terms and soft-terms generated via both supergravity and anomaly mediation.

where  $\tau_b$  denotes the overall big four-cycle volume and the  $\tau_i$  denote blow-up moduli. The numerical coefficients  $\alpha_{b,i}$  are determined by the CY triple intersection numbers and in what follows.<sup>6</sup>

- The visible sector can be realised with appropriate D-brane configurations on blow-up moduli. Concrete D-brane realisations with D3/D7 branes at del Pezzo singularities can lead to interesting gauge/matter extensions of the MSSM. As we will discuss in section 2.2.1, the size of the associated four-cycle can shrink to zero value due to D-term stabilisation. Because of this shrinking, the F-term of the corresponding blow-up Kähler modulus is vanishing at leading order giving rise to a sequestered scenario.
- In order to realise a dS vacuum one introduces further ingredients in the compactification. Here we concentrate on two options: (i) Hidden sector matter fields on the large cycle which acquire non-zero F-terms because of D-term fixing [26]; (ii) E(-1) instantons at a second singularity whose blow-up mode develops non-vanishing F-terms due to new dilaton-dependent non-perturbative effects [29]. These mechanisms will be discussed later in this section.

This setup has been realised in concrete CY orientifold compactifications with D3(/D7) branes at singularities [26–28] that satisfy all global consistency conditions (e.g. tadpole cancellation). The minimal setup that allows this realisation includes at least four Kähler moduli: a 'big' four-cycle  $T_b$  controlling the size of the CY volume, a 'small' blow up mode  $T_s$  supporting non-perturbative effects, the visible sector cycle  $T_{\rm SM}$  and its orientifold image G. These last two moduli are associated to two del Pezzo divisors which collapse to zero size due to D-term fixing<sup>7</sup> and are exchanged by the orientifold involution. This setup leads to  $h_+^{1,1} = 3$  and  $h_-^{1,1} = 1$  with the following Kähler moduli:

$$T_b = \tau_b + i\psi_b, \quad T_s = \tau_s + i\psi_s, \quad T_{\rm SM} = \tau_{\rm SM} + i\psi_{\rm SM}, \quad G = b + ic, \qquad (2.2)$$

where  $\tau_b$ ,  $\tau_s$  and  $\tau_{\rm SM} \to 0$  are divisor volumes, the  $\psi$ 's are axions given by the reduction of  $C_4$  on each of the relevant four-cycles, whereas b and c are respectively the reduction of  $B_2$  and  $C_2$  on the two-cycle dual to the shrinking one. The CY volume  $\mathcal{V}$  is a function of the Kähler moduli which takes the same form as in (2.1).

# 2.1.1 $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity effective field theory

In this section we review the low energy effective action relevant for our construction in the language of 4D  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supergravity. We take the superpotential of the following form

$$W = W_{\text{flux}}(U, S) + A_s(U, S) e^{-a_s T_s} + W_{\text{dS}} + W_{\text{matter}}.$$
(2.3)

 $W_{\text{flux}}$  is the standard flux-generated superpotential [51]. The second term incorporates nonperturbative effects on the 'small' blow-up cycle which can arise from gaugino condensation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>It is possible to implement LVS in CYs which have a more general volume form [50] but this does not alter the structure of soft-masses and so we do not consider these cases.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The positivity of soft scalar masses for visible sector fields fixes all remaining flat-directions after D-term stabilisation [26].

or ED3-instantons. The type of D-brane configuration determines the coefficient  $a_s$  and the prefactor  $A_s(U, S)$  depends on both complex structure moduli U and the dilaton S whose real part s sets the string coupling:  $\langle s \rangle = g_s^{-1}$ .<sup>8</sup> The term  $W_{\rm ds}$  involves the contribution from the mechanism used to obtain a dS vacuum (see section 2.3) while  $W_{\rm matter}$  is the visible sector superpotential

$$W_{\text{matter}} = \mu(M)H_uH_d + \frac{1}{6}Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(M)C^{\alpha}C^{\beta}C^{\gamma} + \cdots, \qquad (2.4)$$

where we denoted the moduli as M and the MSSM superfields as  $C^{\alpha}$ . Moreover, the dots refer to higher dimensional operators. We also separated the two Higgs doublets  $H_u$ and  $H_d$  from the rest of matter fields in the moduli-dependent  $\mu$ -term. Because of the holomorphicity of W and the perturbative shift symmetry of the axionic components of the Kähler moduli, the Yukawa couplings and the  $\mu$ -term can depend only on S and U at the perturbative level with the T-moduli appearing only non-perturbatively. We discuss this dependence in more detail in section 3 and appendix B.

As motivated in [33, 53], we assume the following form of the Kähler potential which describes the regime for the visible sector near the singularity

$$K = -2\ln\left(\mathcal{V} + \frac{\hat{\xi}}{2}\right) - \ln(2s) + \lambda_{\rm SM}\frac{\tau_{\rm SM}^2}{\mathcal{V}} + \lambda_b\frac{b^2}{\mathcal{V}} + K_{\rm dS} + K_{\rm cs}(U) + K_{\rm matter}, \qquad (2.5)$$

where  $\hat{\xi} \equiv \xi s^{3/2}$ , the  $\lambda$ 's are  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  coefficients,  $K_{cs}(U)$  is the tree-level Kähler potential for complex structure moduli and  $K_{ds}$  encodes the dependence on the sector responsible for obtaining a dS vacuum (see section 2.3). The matter Kähler potential  $K_{matter}$  is taken to be

$$K_{\text{matter}} = \tilde{K}_{\alpha}(M, \overline{M})\overline{C}^{\overline{\alpha}}C^{\alpha} + \left[Z(M, \overline{M})H_{u}H_{d} + \text{h.c.}\right].$$
(2.6)

We assume at this stage that the matter metric is flavour diagonal beyond the leading order structure which was highlighted in [54].<sup>9</sup> The only exception is that we allow for the Higgs bilinear to appear in  $K_{\text{matter}}$  which we parameterise with the function Z. Note that  $\tilde{K}_{\alpha}$  is the matter metric for the visible sector which we will parameterise as [33]

$$\tilde{K}_{\alpha} = \frac{f_{\alpha}(U,S)}{\mathcal{V}^{2/3}} \left( 1 - c_s \frac{\hat{\xi}}{\mathcal{V}} + \tilde{K}_{\rm dS} + c_{\rm SM} \tau_{\rm SM}^p + c_b b^p \right), \qquad p > 0, \qquad (2.7)$$

where we have used  $K_{dS}$  to parameterise the dependence on the dS mechanism (details will be given in section 3.2). The c's are taken as constants for simplicity while p is taken to be positive in order to have a well-behaved metric in the singular limit  $b, \tau_{SM} \to 0$ . As they can in principle depend on U and S, we comment in due course on the influence on the soft-terms of such a dependence. The appearance of the Higgs bilinear and its potential

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The dependence on S and U-moduli is structurally different, i.e. the dependence on the dilaton is generated when including the backreaction of sources and warping on the geometry [52].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Subleading flavour off-diagonal entries which can in principle appear [55] are taken to be absent. This is motivated by the appearance of additional anomalous U(1) symmetries in D-brane models, in particular also in the context of del Pezzo singularities [41].

parametrisation are discussed in section 3.3.4 when we analyse the  $\mu$ -term in this scenario. In general the functions  $f_{\alpha}(U, S)$  could be non-universal. Such non-universality can have interesting phenomenological implications (e.g. mass hierarchies among families of sfermion masses needed for a realisation of natural SUSY). As we are interested in soft-terms arising for D-branes at singularities, we take the gauge kinetic function to be

$$f_a = \delta_a S + \kappa_a \, T_{\rm SM} \,, \tag{2.8}$$

where  $\delta_a$  are universal constants for  $\mathbb{Z}_n$  singularities but can be non-universal for more general singularities.

#### 2.2 Moduli stabilisation

As outlined earlier in this section, we stabilise the moduli following the LVS procedure. The complex structure moduli and the dilaton are fixed at tree-level by background fluxes while the Kähler moduli are fixed using higher order corrections to the effective action [28].

#### 2.2.1 D-term stabilisation

The Kähler moduli where the visible sector D-brane configuration is located are stabilised using D-terms which are the leading order contribution to the potential. Remaining flat directions are stabilised using subleading F-term contributions. To set the notation, let us review D-term stabilisation [26]. The moduli  $T_{\rm SM}$  and G are charged under two anomalous U(1) symmetries with charges  $q_1$  and  $q_2$ . The corresponding D-term potential reads

$$V_D = \frac{1}{2\text{Re}(f_1)} \left( \sum_{\alpha} q_{1\alpha} \frac{\partial K}{\partial C^{\alpha}} C^{\alpha} - \xi_1 \right)^2 + \frac{1}{2\text{Re}(f_2)} \left( \sum_{\alpha} q_{2\alpha} \frac{\partial K}{\partial C^{\alpha}} C^{\alpha} - \xi_2 \right)^2, \quad (2.9)$$

where  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  are the gauge kinetic functions of the two U(1)s. The Fayet-Iliopoulos (FI) terms are given by (see appendix of [56] for the exact numerical factors)

$$\xi_1 = -\frac{q_1}{4\pi} \frac{\partial K}{\partial T_{\rm SM}} = -\frac{q_1 \lambda_{\rm SM}}{4\pi} \frac{\tau_{\rm SM}}{\mathcal{V}}, \qquad (2.10)$$

$$\xi_2 = -\frac{q_2}{4\pi} \frac{\partial K}{\partial G} = -\frac{q_2 \lambda_b}{4\pi} \frac{b}{\mathcal{V}}.$$
(2.11)

The vanishing D-term condition fixes therefore  $\tau_{\rm SM}$  and b in terms of visible sector matter fields. The remaining flat directions are fixed by subleading F-term contributions which give vanishing VEVs to the  $C^{\alpha}$  if they develop non-tachyonic soft masses from SUSY breaking [26].<sup>10</sup> Hence the D-term potential (2.9) vanishes in the vacuum since it is fixed to a supersymmetric minimum at  $\xi_1 = \xi_2 = 0$ . This corresponds to the singular limit  $\tau_{\rm SM} = b = 0$ . In turn, the axions  $\psi_{\rm SM}$  and c are eaten up by the two U(1) gauge bosons in the process of anomaly cancellation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>If the soft scalar masses of some  $C^{\alpha}$  are tachyonic, they develop non-zero VEVs (which could be phenomenologically allowed for some SM singlets) that, in turn, induce non-zero FI-terms [28]. However  $\tau_{\text{SM}}$  and b would still be fixed in the singular regime since their VEVs would be volume-suppressed [28].

#### 2.2.2 F-term stabilisation

Analysing the F-term scalar potential in an inverse volume expansion, one finds that the leading contribution scales as  $\mathcal{V}^{-2}$ . This is generated by the flux superpotential  $W_{\text{flux}}$  and is positive semi-definite

$$V_{\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-2})} = \frac{1}{2s\mathcal{V}^2} \left[ 4s^2 |D_S W_{\text{flux}}|^2 + K^{U\overline{U}} D_U W_{\text{flux}} D_{\overline{U}} \overline{W}_{\text{flux}} \right] \Big|_{\xi=0}, \qquad (2.12)$$

where the subscript  $\xi = 0$  denotes that  $\alpha'$  corrections can be neglected at this level of approximation. This potential fixes the dilaton and the complex structure moduli at a supersymmetric minimum located at

$$D_S W_{\text{flux}}|_{\xi=0} = 0, \qquad D_U W_{\text{flux}}|_{\xi=0} = 0, \qquad \langle W_{\text{flux}} \rangle \equiv W_0.$$
 (2.13)

The Kähler moduli are stabilised using  $\alpha'$  corrections to K (2.5) and non-perturbative corrections to W (2.3) which give rise to  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})$  contributions to the scalar potential<sup>11</sup>

$$V_{\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})} = \frac{1}{2s} \left[ \frac{8}{3} (a_s A_s)^2 \sqrt{\tau_s} \frac{e^{-2a_s \tau_s}}{\mathcal{V}} - 4a_s A_s W_0 \tau_s \frac{e^{-a_s \tau_s}}{\mathcal{V}^2} + \frac{3\hat{\xi} W_0^2}{4\mathcal{V}^3} \right].$$
(2.14)

This potential admits an AdS global minimum which breaks SUSY. Minimisation with respect to  $\tau_s$  yields

$$e^{-a_s\tau_s} = \frac{3\sqrt{\tau_s}W_0}{4a_sA_s\mathcal{V}}\frac{(1-4\epsilon_s)}{(1-\epsilon_s)} \quad \text{with} \quad \epsilon_s \equiv \frac{1}{4a_s\tau_s} \sim \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\ln\mathcal{V}}\right) \ll 1.$$
 (2.15)

On the other hand, minimisation with respect to  $\tau_b$  gives

$$\tau_s^{3/2} = \frac{\hat{\xi}}{2} \left[ 1 + f_{\rm dS}(\epsilon_s) \right] \,, \tag{2.16}$$

where  $f_{\rm dS}$  is a subdominant function of  $\epsilon_s$  which depends on the particular mechanism used to obtain a dS vacuum (see appendix A). The relation (2.16) implies that at the minimum (neglecting  $f_{\rm dS}$ )

$$\hat{\xi} \simeq \frac{1}{4 \left( a_s \epsilon_s \right)^{3/2}} \sim \mathcal{O}\left[ \left( \ln \mathcal{V} \right)^{3/2} \right] \gg 1.$$
(2.17)

Given that the potential (2.14) depends on S and U (via  $A_s(U, S)$  and s-dependent  $\alpha'$  effects), the minimum (2.13) is slightly shifted from its supersymmetric locus. This shift is fundamental for the soft-term computation in sequestered scenarios since non-vanishing F-terms of U and S at subleading order can actually provide the main contribution to soft-terms [33].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>We have already fixed the axion  $\psi_s$  at  $a_s \langle \psi_s \rangle = \pi$ . The axion  $\psi_b$  associated to the large cycle can develop a potential only via  $T_b$ -dependent non-perturbative effects.

#### 2.2.3 Shift in the dilaton and complex structure minimum

Let us try to estimate the shift of S and U from their supersymmetric minimum (2.13) because of  $\alpha'$  and non-perturbative effects. The Kähler covariant derivative of the total superpotential evaluated at the minimum (2.15) and (2.16) reads (we neglect  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_s)$  effects)

$$D_S W \simeq D_S W_{\text{flux}}|_{\xi=0} - \frac{3\hat{\xi}W_0}{4s\mathcal{V}} \left[1 + \epsilon_s s\partial_s \ln A_s(U,S)\right].$$
(2.18)

Since we do not know the functional dependence of  $A_s(U, S)$  and since the  $W_{dS}$  term in (2.3) can also potentially shift the dilaton minimum, it is not possible for us to compute this shift explicitly. We will parameterise it by using the parameter  $\omega_S(U, S)$  defined as

$$D_S W = -\frac{3\omega_S(U,S)}{4} \frac{\hat{\xi} W_0}{s \mathcal{V}}.$$
(2.19)

The dependence of  $A_s(U, S)$  on the complex structure moduli is also responsible for shifting the U-moduli from their supersymmetric minimum. After imposing the minimisation conditions, the total  $D_U W$  looks like (denoting  $u \equiv \text{Re}(U)$ )

$$D_U W \simeq D_U W_{\text{flux}}|_{\xi=0} - \frac{3\hat{\xi}W_0}{4\mathcal{V}} \epsilon_s \partial_u \left[ K_{\text{cs}}(U) + \ln A_s(U,S) \right], \qquad (2.20)$$

and so we can parameterise this shift by  $\omega_{U_i}(U, S)$  as

$$D_{U_i}W = -\frac{3\omega_{U_i}(U,S)}{4}\frac{\hat{\xi}W_0}{s\mathcal{V}} \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad D_{U_i}W = \frac{\omega_{U_i}(U,S)}{\omega_S(U,S)}D_SW \sim \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-1}), \quad (2.21)$$

where both  $\omega_S$  and  $\omega_{U_i}$  are expected to be  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  functions of S and U. Note that both functions  $\omega_{S,U_i}$  depend also on the dS mechanism.

#### 2.3 Scenarios for de Sitter vacua

In this section we review two mechanisms which can lead to dS vacua in LVS.

#### 2.3.1 Case 1: dS vacua from hidden matter fields

In the LVS setting, dS vacua can arise if some hidden matter fields acquire non-vanishing F-terms which provide a positive definite contribution to the scalar potential [26]. The models constructed in [26] provide globally consistent explicit examples of string models with a semi-realistic visible sector, moduli stabilisation and a positive cosmological constant (see figure 1 for a pictorial sketch of this setup).

Generically, the choice of  $B_2$  which cancels the Freed-Witten anomaly on the small cycle  $T_s$ , leads to non-vanishing gauge fluxes on the big cycle  $T_b$ . As a consequence,  $T_b$ acquires a non-zero U(1)-charge  $q_b$  generating a moduli-dependent FI-term. The D-term potential becomes (focusing for simplicity on a single matter field  $\phi_{\rm ds}$  with Kähler metric  $K_{\rm ds} = s^{-1} |\phi_{\rm ds}|^2$  [57, 58] and U(1)-charge  $q_{\phi}$ )

$$V_D = \frac{1}{2\text{Re}(f_b)} \left(\frac{q_\phi}{s} |\phi_{\rm dS}|^2 - \xi_b\right)^2 \,, \tag{2.22}$$



Figure 1. Pictorial sketch of our CY setup for dS vacua from hidden matter fields.

where  $f_b = T_b$  (neglecting S-dependent flux corrections) and the FI-term is given by

$$\xi_b = -\frac{q_b}{4\pi} \frac{\partial K}{\partial T_b} = \frac{3q_b}{8\pi} \frac{1}{\mathcal{V}^{2/3}} \,, \tag{2.23}$$

Therefore the total scalar potential takes the form

$$V_{\text{tot}} = V_D + V_F = \frac{1}{2\mathcal{V}^{2/3}} \left( \frac{q_\phi}{s} |\phi_{\text{dS}}|^2 - \frac{3q_b}{8\pi\mathcal{V}^{2/3}} \right)^2 + \frac{1}{s} m_{3/2}^2 |\phi_{\text{dS}}|^2 + V_{\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})}, \qquad (2.24)$$

where  $m_{3/2}$  is the gravitino mass as in eq. (1.3) and  $V_{\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})}$  is given in (2.14). If the two U(1)-charges  $q_{\phi}$  and  $q_b$  have the same sign,  $\phi_{ds}$  develops a non-vanishing VEV

$$\frac{q_{\phi}}{s}|\phi_{\rm dS}|^2 = \xi_b - \frac{m_{3/2}^2 \mathcal{V}^{2/3}}{q_{\phi}} \,. \tag{2.25}$$

Substituting this VEV in (2.24) we obtain

$$V_{\text{tot}} = V_{D,0} + \frac{3q_b}{16\pi q_\phi} \frac{W_0^2}{s\mathcal{V}^{8/3}} + V_{\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})}, \qquad (2.26)$$

where the new positive contribution can lead to an LVS dS vacuum while the D-term potential gives rise only to a subleading effect of order

$$V_{D,0} = \frac{m_{3/2}^4 \mathcal{V}^{2/3}}{2q_{\phi}^2} \sim \mathcal{O}\left(\mathcal{V}^{-10/3}\right).$$
(2.27)

Following [26], we can minimise the total scalar potential (2.26) with respect to  $\tau_s$  and  $\mathcal{V}$ , finding the following value of the vacuum energy (neglecting the subleading effect of  $V_{D,0}$ )

$$\langle V_{\rm tot} \rangle \simeq \frac{3W_0^2}{8sa_s^{3/2} \langle \mathcal{V} \rangle^3} \left[ \delta \mathcal{V}^{1/3} - \sqrt{\ln\left(\frac{\langle \mathcal{V} \rangle}{W_0}\right)} \right],$$
 (2.28)



Figure 2. Pictorial view of our CY setup for dS vacua from non-perturbative effects at singularities.

where

$$\delta = \frac{1}{18\pi} \frac{q_b \, a_s^{3/2}}{q_\phi} \simeq 0.02 \left(\frac{q_b \, a_s^{3/2}}{q_\phi}\right) \,. \tag{2.29}$$

A cancellation of the vacuum energy at  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})$  requires therefore to tune  $W_0$  so that (a subleading tuning is needed to cancel also  $V_{D,0}$ )

$$\left[\ln\left(\frac{\langle \mathcal{V}\rangle}{W_0}\right)\right]^{3/2} = \delta^3 \langle \mathcal{V}\rangle \sim 5 \cdot 10^{-6} \langle \mathcal{V}\rangle \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad |\phi_{\rm dS}|^2 = \frac{27s}{4a_s^{3/2}\mathcal{V}} \sqrt{\ln\left(\frac{\langle \mathcal{V}\rangle}{W_0}\right)} \sim \frac{1}{\mathcal{V}\sqrt{\epsilon_s}}.$$
(2.30)

For natural  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  values of all underlying parameters, this relation gives a minimum for  $\mathcal{V}$  at order  $10^6 - 10^7$  (see [26]).

#### 2.3.2 Case 2: dS vacua from non-perturbative effects at singularities

Reference [29] provided a novel method for obtaining LVS dS vacua (see figure 2 for a pictorial sketch of this setup). The additional contribution to the scalar potential needed to achieve a positive cosmological constant arises from non-perturbative effects at singularities (like gaugino condensation on spacetime filling D3-branes or E(-1) instantons). These effects generate a new contribution to the superpotential (2.3) of the form

$$W_{\rm dS} = A_{\rm dS}(U, S) \, e^{-a_{\rm dS}(S + \kappa_{\rm dS} T_{\rm dS})} \,. \tag{2.31}$$

Because of the presence of an additional Kähler modulus, the Kähler potential (2.5) has to be supplemented with

$$K_{\rm dS} = \lambda_{\rm dS} \frac{\tau_{\rm dS}^2}{\mathcal{V}}, \qquad (2.32)$$

with  $\tau_{\rm ds} = \text{Re}(T_{\rm ds})$ . This blow-up mode can be fixed in the singular regime by minimising the hidden sector D-term potential (focusing for simplicity on canonically normalised hidden fields  $\phi_{\rm h,i}$  with charges  $q_{\rm h,i}$  under an anomalous U(1))

$$V_D = \frac{1}{2\text{Re}(f_{\rm h})} \left( \sum_i q_{{\rm h},i} |\phi_{{\rm h},i}|^2 - \xi_{\rm h} \right)^2, \qquad (2.33)$$

where  $f_{\rm h} = S$  (neglecting  $T_{\rm ds}$ -dependent corrections) and the FI-term is given by ( $q_{\rm ds}$  is the U(1)-charge of  $T_{\rm ds}$  and from now on we set  $\lambda_{\rm ds} = 1$  for simplicity)

$$\xi_{\rm h} = -\frac{q_{\rm ds}}{4\pi} \frac{\partial K}{\partial T_{\rm ds}} = -\frac{q_{\rm ds}}{4\pi} \frac{\tau_{\rm ds}}{\mathcal{V}} \,. \tag{2.34}$$

In fact, the total scalar potential takes the leading order form (after fixing the axionic phase of  $T_{\rm dS}$ ) [29]

$$V_{\rm tot} = \frac{1}{2s} \left( \sum_{i} q_{\rm h,i} |\phi_{\rm h,i}|^2 + \frac{q_{\rm ds}}{4\pi} \frac{\tau_{\rm ds}}{\mathcal{V}} \right)^2 + \frac{(\kappa_{\rm ds} a_{\rm ds} A_{\rm ds})^2}{s} \frac{e^{-2a_{\rm dS}(s + \kappa_{\rm dS} \tau_{\rm dS})}}{\mathcal{V}} + V_{\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})}, \quad (2.35)$$

where the second term comes from the new superpotential (2.31) and  $V_{\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})}$  is given in (2.14). Minimisation with respect to  $\tau_{ds}$  gives

$$\frac{q_{\rm dS}}{4\pi} \frac{\tau_{\rm dS}}{\mathcal{V}} = -\sum_{i} q_{\rm h,i} |\phi_{\rm h,i}|^2 + \frac{a_{\rm dS} \kappa_{\rm dS}}{q_{\rm dS}} \left(\kappa_{\rm dS} a_{\rm dS} A_{\rm dS}\right)^2 e^{-2a_{\rm dS}s} \,. \tag{2.36}$$

Assuming that model-dependent contributions from F-terms of hidden matter fields fix some  $\phi_{h,i}$  at non-zero VEVs such that  $\langle \sum_i q_{\text{hid},i} | \phi_{\text{hid},i} |^2 \rangle = 0$  but  $A_{\text{ds}} \neq 0,^{12}$  and substituting the VEV (2.36) in (2.35) we obtain at leading order

$$V_{\rm tot} = V_{D,0} + \frac{(\kappa_{\rm dS} a_{\rm dS} A_{\rm dS})^2}{s} \frac{e^{-2a_{\rm dS}s}}{\mathcal{V}} + V_{\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})}.$$
 (2.37)

Given that the dilaton is fixed by a ratio of flux quanta, the extra positive-definite contribution can easily be tuned to obtain a dS minimum. Following [29], a cancellation of the vacuum energy at  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})$  requires to tune 3-form fluxes such that

$$\left(\frac{\kappa_{\rm dS}a_{\rm dS}A_{\rm dS}}{W_0}\right)^2 e^{-2a_{\rm dS}s} = \frac{9}{32} \frac{\epsilon_s \hat{\xi}}{\mathcal{V}^2}.$$
(2.38)

On the other hand, the D-term potential gives rise only to a subleading effect of order

$$V_{D,0} = \frac{1}{2s} \left(\frac{a_{\rm dS}\kappa_{\rm dS}}{q_{\rm dS}}\right)^2 \left(\kappa_{\rm dS}a_{\rm dS}A_{\rm dS}\right)^4 e^{-4a_{\rm dS}s} \sim \mathcal{O}\left(\mathcal{V}^{-4}\right) \,. \tag{2.39}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>In order to make  $W_{dS}$  gauge invariant,  $A_{dS}$  has to depend on the  $\phi_{h,i}$  which can develop non-zero VEVs for appropriate hidden field F-term contributions, giving  $A_{dS} \neq 0$  with  $\tau_{dS}$  in the singular regime [29].

#### **3** F-terms and soft-terms

In this section we list the leading order contributions to the F-terms relevant for the computation of all soft-terms (see appendix A for the structure of subleading corrections to the F-terms). After defining our parametrisation for the Kähler matter metric in local and ultra-local scenarios, we then calculate the soft-terms.

#### 3.1 Summary of F-terms

The general supergravity expression for an F-term is [59, 60]

$$F^I = e^{K/2} K^{IJ} D_{\overline{J}} W \,. \tag{3.1}$$

The exact expressions for the F-terms are rather complicated. Considerable simplifications occur if we perform an expansion in  $\mathcal{V}^{-1}$  and  $\epsilon_s$ . We also factor out the gravitino mass which is given by the following expression

$$m_{3/2} = e^{K/2} |W| = \left(\frac{g_s^2 M_P}{2\sqrt{2\pi}}\right) \frac{W_0}{\mathcal{V}} \left[1 - \frac{\hat{\xi}}{2\mathcal{V}} \left(1 + 3y_{\rm dS}\epsilon_s + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon_s^2)\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\mathcal{V}^2}\right)\right], \quad (3.2)$$

where  $y_{ds} = 1$  for the dS case 1 of section 2.3.1 while  $y_{ds} = 1 + \frac{\sqrt{2}a_s^{3/4}}{\kappa_{ds}a_{ds}}$  for the dS case 2 of section 2.3.2. The leading order F-terms for  $T_b$  and  $T_s$  turn out to be (we show the first subleading correction only for  $F^{T_b}$  since its dominant term does not contribute to the soft-term because of the no-scale structure)

$$\frac{F^{T_b}}{\tau_b} \simeq -2m_{3/2} \left( 1 + \frac{x_{\rm dS}}{a_s^{3/2} \mathcal{V}\sqrt{\epsilon_s}} \right) , \qquad \frac{F^{T_s}}{\tau_s} \simeq -6m_{3/2} \epsilon_s , \qquad (3.3)$$

where  $x_{\rm ds} = -45/16$  for the dS case 1 of section 2.3.1 while  $x_{\rm ds} \sim \mathcal{O}(1/\mathcal{V})$  for the dS case 2 of section 2.3.2 (see appendix A). Because of the shift from their supersymmetric minimum, also S and U develop non-vanishing F-terms whose leading order expressions are

$$\frac{F^S}{s} \simeq \frac{3\omega_S'(U,S)}{8a_s^{3/2}} \frac{m_{3/2}}{\mathcal{V}\epsilon_s^{3/2}}, \qquad F^{U_i} \simeq -\frac{K^{U_i\overline{U}_{\overline{j}}}\omega_{\overline{U}_{\overline{j}}}(U,S)}{2s^2} F^S \equiv \beta^{U_i}(U,S)F^S, \qquad (3.4)$$

where  $\omega'_S(U,S) \equiv 3 - 2\omega_S(U,S)$  with  $\omega_S$  as defined in (2.19) and  $\beta^{U_i}$  are unknown  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  functions of U and S. Additional non-zero F-terms are associated to fields responsible to achieve a dS solution. For the dS case 1 of section 2.3.1 there is an F-term associated to  $\phi_{ds}$ 

$$\frac{F^{\phi_{\rm dS}}}{\phi_{\rm dS}} \simeq m_{3/2} \,, \tag{3.5}$$

with  $\phi_{dS}$  given in (2.30) (up to an irrelevant phase). On the other hand, in the dS case 2 of section 2.3.2 the blow-up mode  $T_{dS}$  has a non-vanishing F-term (using the condition (2.38))

$$F^{T_{\rm dS}} \simeq \frac{3}{4\sqrt{2}a_s^{3/4}} \frac{m_{3/2}}{\epsilon_s^{1/4}} \,.$$
 (3.6)

Finally, the F-terms associated to the MSSM cycles  $T_{\rm SM}$  and G vanish:

$$F^G = F^{T_{\rm SM}} = 0. (3.7)$$

This result is crucial for sequestering since the dominant F-terms are then associated with moduli which couple weakly to the visible sector via Planck-suppressed interactions.<sup>13</sup>

#### 3.2 Local and ultra-local scenarios

Our analysis of soft-terms will distinguish between two classes of models: local and ultralocal. To motivate this classification we discuss the constraints (along the lines of [57]) that locality imposes on the moduli dependence of the physical Yukawa couplings  $\hat{Y}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$ 

$$\hat{Y}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = e^{K/2} \frac{Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(U,S)}{\sqrt{\tilde{K}_{\alpha}\tilde{K}_{\beta}\tilde{K}_{\gamma}}},$$
(3.8)

where  $Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(U, S)$  are the holomorphic Yukawas which do not depend on the Kähler moduli due to the holomorphicity of W and the perturbative shift symmetry of the *T*-axions. The Kähler potential K is given in (2.5) whereas the matter metrics  $\tilde{K}_{\alpha}$ ,  $\tilde{K}_{\beta}$  and  $\tilde{K}_{\gamma}$  are given in (2.7). Since the physical Yukawas are determined by local interactions of open string degrees of freedom, one expects at leading order that their strength is insensitive to the overall volume of the compactification. Thus for (3.8) to yield a result independent of  $\mathcal{V}$ one needs at leading order in an inverse volume expansion (for  $\tau_{\rm SM} = b = C^{\alpha} = 0$ )

$$\tilde{K}_{\alpha} = h_{\alpha}(U,S) e^{K/3} \simeq \frac{h_{\alpha}(U,S) e^{K_{\rm cs}/3}}{(2s)^{1/3} \mathcal{V}^{2/3}} \left(1 - \frac{\hat{\xi}}{3\mathcal{V}} + \frac{1}{3} K_{\rm ds}\right), \qquad (3.9)$$

where  $h_{\alpha}(U, S)$  is an unknown function of U and S and in the approximation we focus on the first subleading order corrections, e.g. neglecting higher order corrections of  $\mathcal{O}(1/\mathcal{V}^{8/3})$ . Note that this result has the same volume scaling of our formula for the matter metric (2.7) which for  $\tau_{\rm SM} = b = 0$  reduces to

$$\tilde{K}_{\alpha} = \frac{f_{\alpha}(U,S)}{\mathcal{V}^{2/3}} \left( 1 - c_s \frac{\hat{\xi}}{\mathcal{V}} + \tilde{K}_{\mathrm{dS}} \right) \equiv f_{\alpha}(U,S)\tilde{K}.$$
(3.10)

As found in [33], our soft-term computation is sensitive to the form of  $\tilde{K}_{\alpha}$ — beyond leading order in a  $\mathcal{V}^{-1}$  expansion. There is no reason to expect that (3.9) still holds beyond leading order since we cannot use locality to fix the form of  $\tilde{K}_{\alpha}$  (although there is some evidence from perturbative string computations [46]). It was noted in [33] that the relation (3.9) has interesting implications for the soft-terms. Guided by this, we organise our analysis of models into two classes of phenomenological models:

- Local: we call a scenario 'local' if (3.9) holds only to leading order in  $\mathcal{V}^{-1}$ ;
- Ultra-local: we call a scenario 'ultra-local' if (3.9) holds exactly.

 $<sup>^{13}</sup>T_{\rm SM}$  and G can develop non-zero F-terms only in the presence of tachyonic scalar masses [28]. However, also in this case, their contribution to soft-terms turns out to be negligible.

If we parameterise  $\tilde{K}_{dS}$  as  $\tilde{K}_{dS} = c_{dS}K_{dS}$ , comparing (3.9) with (3.10), we find that in the ultra-local case

$$f_{\alpha}(U,S) = \frac{h_{\alpha}(U,S) e^{K_{cs}/3}}{(2s)^{1/3}}$$
 and  $c_s = c_{ds} = \frac{1}{3}$ . (3.11)

Subleading deviations from the approximation in (3.9) can be accounted for by small changes in  $c_s$  and  $c_{ds}$  at the appropriate subleading order.

#### 3.3 Soft-terms

We now proceed to compute all soft-terms distinguishing between ultra-local and local scenarios. Throughout this section we work to leading order in  $\mathcal{V}^{-1}$  and  $\epsilon_s$ .

#### 3.3.1 Gaugino masses

The general expression for gaugino masses in gravity mediation is

$$M_a = \frac{1}{2\text{Re}(f_a)} F^I \partial_I f_a \,, \tag{3.12}$$

where  $f_a = \delta_a S + \kappa_a T_{\text{SM}}$  is the gauge kinetic function as in (2.8). As  $F^{T_{\text{SM}}} = 0$ , we obtain universal gaugino masses,  $M_1 = M_2 = M_3 = M_{1/2}$ , which are generated by the dilaton F-term. Potential non-universalities can arise through anomaly mediated contributions which turn out to be subleading (see appendix B.2 for more details). The leading order expression for the gaugino masses is

$$M_{1/2} = \frac{F^S}{2s} \simeq \frac{3\omega'_S(U,S)}{16a_s^{3/2}} \frac{m_{3/2}}{\mathcal{V}\epsilon_s^{3/2}} \sim \mathcal{O}\left(m_{3/2} \frac{(\ln \mathcal{V})^{3/2}}{\mathcal{V}}\right) \ll m_{3/2}.$$
 (3.13)

Note that this leading order result depends on the shift of the dilaton minimum induced by  $\alpha'$  and non-perturbative effects (see section 2.2.3). In this paper we neglect possible phases of gaugino masses. We will return to this question in the context of the low-energy analysis of soft-terms [49].

#### 3.3.2 Scalar masses

Scalar masses in gravity mediation receive both F- and D-term contributions. Let us study them separately, presenting their leading order expressions.

**F-term contributions.** Assuming a diagonal Kähler matter metric as in (2.6), the general expression for the F-term contributions to scalar masses in gravity mediation is [60]

$$m_{\alpha}^{2}|_{F} = m_{3/2}^{2} - F^{I}\overline{F}^{\overline{J}}\partial_{I}\partial_{\overline{J}}\ln\tilde{K}_{\alpha}. \qquad (3.14)$$

Local limit: in the local limit we obtain universal scalar masses,  $m_{\alpha}^2 = m_0^2 \ \forall \alpha$ , where

$$m_0^2 \big|_F \simeq m_{3/2}^2 - \left(\frac{F^{T_b}}{2}\right)^2 \partial_{\tau_b}^2 \ln \tilde{K} \simeq \frac{5\left(c_s - \frac{1}{3}\right)}{\omega_S'} m_{3/2} M_{1/2} \sim \mathcal{O}\left(m_{3/2}^2 \frac{(\ln \mathcal{V})^{3/2}}{\mathcal{V}}\right) . \quad (3.15)$$

The dominant contribution to this expression comes from the F-term of  $T_b$ . More precisely, the leading term of  $F^{T_b}$  in (3.3) together with the leading term of  $\tilde{K}$  in (3.10) give a contribution which cancels against  $m_{3/2}^2$  in (3.15) because of the underlying no-scale structure. The first non-vanishing term in (3.15) originates from the leading term of  $F^{T_b}$  together with the first subleading correction to  $\tilde{K}$ . On the other hand, the subleading correction to  $F^{T_b}$  in (3.3) yields a contribution suppressed by  $\epsilon_s$ , and so turns out to be negligible.

Scalar masses are universal since they get generated by the F-term of  $T_b$ . Non-universal effects can arise from  $F^S$  and  $F^{U_i}$  but they are volume suppressed since they would give contributions of order  $m_{3/2}^2/\mathcal{V}^2$ . If  $c_s > 1/3$ , the scalar masses are non-tachyonic.

Ultra-local limit: an interesting feature of (3.15) is that it vanishes if one takes the ultra-local limit  $c_s = 1/3$ .<sup>14</sup> In fact, there is a general argument [33] which guarantees the vanishing of  $m_0^2$  at  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})$ . Using (3.9) (the defining property of ultra-local models) in the general expression for the F-term contributions to scalar masses (3.14) we find

$$m_{\alpha}^{2}\big|_{F} = -\frac{1}{3}V_{F,0} - F^{I}\overline{F}^{\overline{J}}\partial_{I}\partial_{\overline{J}}\ln h_{\alpha}(U,S), \qquad (3.16)$$

where we used the fact that  $V_F = K_{I\overline{J}}F^{I}\overline{F}^{\overline{J}} - 3m_{3/2}^2$ . Recalling that  $V_0 = V_{F,0} + V_{D,0}$ and setting the cosmological constant to zero (in the dS constructions of section 2.3 we showed how to cancel  $V_0$  at  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})$  but this can in principle be done at any order in the  $\mathcal{V}^{-1}$  expansion),  $V_{F,0}$  can be traded for  $V_{D,0}$ , and we so shall include it in our analysis of D-term contributions to scalar masses.

On the other hand, if the functions  $h_{\alpha}(S, U)$  are not constants, there is a non-vanishing contribution from the F-terms of the dilaton and the complex structure moduli at  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-2})$ . Using (3.4), the S and U-dependent contribution to scalar masses turns out to be

$$m_{\alpha}^{2}|_{F} = -M_{1/2}^{2}s^{2}\left(\partial_{s}^{2} + \beta^{U_{i}}\partial_{u_{i}}\partial_{s} + \beta^{U_{i}}\beta^{\overline{U}_{j}}\partial_{u_{i}}\partial_{u_{j}}\right)\ln h_{\alpha}(U,S) \sim \mathcal{O}\left(M_{1/2}^{2}\right), \quad (3.17)$$

where  $M_{1/2}$  is the gaugino mass in (3.13). Note that this contribution is generically nonuniversal and might also give rise to tachyonic scalars depending on the explicit functional dependence of the functions  $h_{\alpha}(U, S)$ .

**D-term contributions.** Assuming a diagonal Kähler matter metric as in (2.6), the general expression for the D-term contributions to scalar masses in gravity mediation is [61]

$$m_{\alpha}^{2}\big|_{D} = \tilde{K}_{\alpha}^{-1} \sum_{i} g_{i}^{2} D_{i} \partial_{\alpha \overline{\alpha}}^{2} D_{i} - V_{D,0} \,.$$

$$(3.18)$$

Given that this result depends on the value of the D-term potential at the minimum, this contribution depends on the way to achieve a dS vacuum. As explained in section 2.2.1, the VEV of the D-term potential associated to visible sector U(1)s is vanishing in the absence of tachyonic scalars.<sup>15</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>We neglect potential higher order corrections at this stage.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Even in the presence of tachyonic scalars, the contribution to scalar masses from visible sector D-terms turns out to be a negligible effect since visible matter fields,  $\tau_{\rm SM}$  and b would still be stabilised at zero at leading order.

dS case 1: in the dS case 1 of section 2.3.1 the relevant D-term is the one associated with the anomalous U(1) living on the big cycle. As can be seen from (2.27),  $V_{D,0}$  scales as  $\mathcal{V}^{-10/3}$  which is subdominant with respect to the first term in (3.18) that gives

$$m_0^2 \Big|_D = \frac{q_b}{2f_\alpha(U,S)} D_{\mathrm{dS}_1} \partial_{\tau_b} \tilde{K}_\alpha = \frac{m_{3/2}^2}{3s} |\phi_{\mathrm{dS}}|^2 = \frac{6\epsilon_s}{\omega_S'} m_{3/2} M_{1/2} \sim \mathcal{O}\left(m_{3/2}^2 \frac{\sqrt{\ln \mathcal{V}}}{\mathcal{V}}\right), \quad (3.19)$$

once we impose the condition (2.30) to have a vanishing cosmological constant at  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})$ . In the local limit, this result is suppressed with respect to the F-term contribution (3.15) by a factor of  $\epsilon_s$ . On the other hand, in the ultra-local limit, this D-term contribution dominates over the F-term one given in (3.17) which scales as  $m_{3/2}^2 \epsilon^2$ . Hence it leads to universal and non-tachyonic scalar masses.

dS case 2: in the dS case 2 of section 2.3.2 the relevant D-term is the one associated with the anomalous U(1) which belongs to the hidden sector responsible for achieving a dS vacuum. In this case both terms in (3.18) have the same scaling since

$$m_0^2 \Big|_D = \frac{q_{\rm dS} \mathcal{V}^{2/3}}{2s f_\alpha(U,S)} D_{\rm dS_2} \partial_{\tau_{\rm dS}} \tilde{K}_\alpha - V_{D,0} = \frac{c_{\rm dS}}{s} D_{\rm dS_2} q_{\rm dS} \frac{\tau_{\rm dS}}{\mathcal{V}} - V_{D,0} = (2c_{\rm dS} - 1) V_{D,0} . \quad (3.20)$$

As can be seen from (2.39),  $V_{D,0}$  scales as  $\mathcal{V}^{-4}$ . Hence in the local limit the D-term contribution is subleading with respect to the F-term one given in (3.15) which scales as  $\mathcal{V}^{-3}$ . In the ultra-local limit the F-term contribution to scalar masses is given by (3.16). Adding  $-V_{F,0}/3 = V_{D,0}/3$  to (3.20) we find that the total D-term contribution to scalar masses vanishes in the ultra-local limit once we impose  $c_{\rm ds} = 1/3$  as in (3.11) since

$$m_0^2 |_D = 2\left(c_{\rm dS} - \frac{1}{3}\right) V_{D,0} = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad c_{\rm dS} = \frac{1}{3}.$$
 (3.21)

Hence scalar masses get generated by F-terms also in the ultra-local limit. Their expression is given in (3.17) and scales as  $\mathcal{V}^{-4}$ .

Summary. Let us summarise our results for soft scalar masses. The expression for  $m_0^2$ in the local limit does not depend on the way to obtain a dS vacuum since in each case it is given by the F-term contribution (3.15) that scales as  $\mathcal{V}^{-3}$ . Scalar masses are nontachyonic if  $c_s > 1/3$  and universal. On the other hand, the result for the ultra-local limit depends on the dS mechanism. In the dS case 1 of section 2.3.1, scalar masses get generated by the D-term contribution (3.19) which has again an overall  $\mathcal{V}^{-3}$  scaling but with an  $\epsilon_s$ suppression with respect to the local case. Scalar masses turn out to be non-tachyonic and universal. On the contrary, in the dS case 2 of section 2.3.2, the main contribution to scalar masses comes from F-terms and it is given by (3.17) which scales as  $\mathcal{V}^{-4}$ . This result could potentially lead to tachyonic and non-universal scalar masses depending on the exact functional dependence of the functions  $h_{\alpha}(U, S)$ .

## 3.3.3 A-terms

For the current discussion, we assume that the Yukawa couplings  $Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$  receive no nonperturbative contributions from the Kähler moduli and are hence only functions of the complex structure moduli and the dilaton  $Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(U,S)$ . The trilinear A-terms in gravity mediation receive both F- and D-term contributions. The D-term contributions turn out to be zero for vanishing VEVs of visible sector matter fields [61]. On the other hand, the general formula for the F-term contribution is [60]

$$A_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = F^{I}\partial_{I}\left[K + \ln\left(\frac{Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(U,S)}{\tilde{K}_{\alpha}\tilde{K}_{\beta}\tilde{K}_{\gamma}}\right)\right] = F^{I}\partial_{I}\left[K - 3\ln\tilde{K} + \ln\left(\frac{Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(U,S)}{f_{\alpha}f_{\beta}f_{\gamma}}\right)\right], \quad (3.22)$$

where the holomorphic Yukawas  $Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(U, S)$  do not depend on the Kähler moduli because of their axionic shift symmetry. Let us present the expression for  $A_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$  at leading order in  $\mathcal{V}^{-1}$  and  $\epsilon_s$ .

Local limit: in the local limit we find

$$A_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = -\left[1 - s\beta^{U_i}\partial_{u_i}K_{cs} - \frac{6}{\omega'_S}\left(c_s - \frac{1}{3}\right) - s\partial_{s,u}\ln\left(\frac{Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}}{f_\alpha f_\beta f_\gamma}\right)\right]M_{1/2} \sim \mathcal{O}\left(M_{1/2}\right),$$
(3.23)

with  $\partial_{s,u} \equiv \partial_s + \beta^{U_i} \partial_{u_i}$ . Note that there is a cancellation at  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-1})$  between K and  $3 \ln \tilde{K}$  in (3.22). The dominant contributions to (3.23) come from the F-terms of  $T_b$ , S and U.

Ultra-local limit: in the ultra-local limit defined by (3.9), the contribution to  $A_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$ from  $F^{T_b}$  vanishes, as can be seen at leading order in (3.23) by setting  $c_s = 1/3$  and  $f_{\alpha} = h_{\alpha} e^{K_{cs}/3} (2s)^{-1/3}$ . In this limit, the general expression (3.22) simplifies to

$$A_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = s\partial_{s,u}\ln\left(\frac{Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(U,S)}{h_{\alpha}h_{\beta}h_{\gamma}}\right)M_{1/2} \sim \mathcal{O}\left(M_{1/2}\right).$$
(3.24)

# **3.3.4** $\hat{\mu}$ and $B\hat{\mu}$ terms

Let us discuss different effects that can contribute to the superpotential and Kähler potential Higgs bi-linear terms. Whether they are present or not is model dependent and a concrete realisation or combination of various mechanisms might not be possible. The following list should be understood as a list of possible effects that can lead to a non-vanishing  $\mu$ term. The canonically normalised  $\hat{\mu}$  and  $B\hat{\mu}$ -terms receive contributions from both Kähler potential and superpotential effects. Let us discuss these two different effects separately.

Kähler potential contributions. Non-zero  $\hat{\mu}$  and  $B\hat{\mu}$  get generated from a non-vanishing prefactor Z in the matter Kähler potential (2.6) [62, 63]. Their general expression in gravity mediation is [60, 61]

$$\hat{\mu} = \left( m_{3/2} Z - \overline{F}^{\overline{I}} \partial_{\overline{I}} Z \right) \left( \tilde{K}_{H_u} \tilde{K}_{H_d} \right)^{-1/2} \quad \text{and} \quad B\hat{\mu} = B\hat{\mu}|_F + B\hat{\mu}|_D , \qquad (3.25)$$

where

$$B\hat{\mu}|_{F} = \left\{ 2m_{3/2}^{2}Z - m_{3/2}\overline{F}^{\overline{I}}\partial_{\overline{I}}Z + m_{3/2}F^{I}\left[\partial_{I}Z - Z\partial_{I}\ln\left(\tilde{K}_{H_{u}}\tilde{K}_{H_{d}}\right)\right] - F^{I}\overline{F}^{\overline{J}}\left[\partial_{I}\partial_{\overline{J}}Z - \partial_{I}Z\partial_{\overline{J}}\ln\left(\tilde{K}_{H_{u}}\tilde{K}_{H_{d}}\right)\right]\right\}\left(\tilde{K}_{H_{u}}\tilde{K}_{H_{d}}\right)^{-1/2}, \quad (3.26)$$

$$B\hat{\mu}|_{D} = \left(\tilde{K}_{H_{u}}\tilde{K}_{H_{d}}\right)^{-1/2} \left(\sum_{i} g_{i}^{2}D_{i}\partial_{H_{u}}\partial_{H_{d}}D_{i} - V_{D,0}Z\right).$$
(3.27)

Motivated by the fact that we are at the singular regime, we take Z of the same form as the matter metric (2.7) with  $f_{\alpha}(U, S)$  replaced by a different unknown function of S and U which we denote  $\gamma(U, S)$ . We stress that  $Z = \gamma(U, S)\tilde{K}$  is just the simplest ansatz for Z given our present knowledge but its form could in general be different from  $\tilde{K}_{\alpha}$ .<sup>16</sup>

Let us compute the leading expressions (in an expansion in  $\mathcal{V}^{-1}$  and  $\epsilon_s$ ) for both  $\hat{\mu}$ and  $B\hat{\mu}$  in the local and ultra-local limit.

Local limit: in the local limit we find

$$\hat{\mu} = \frac{\gamma}{\sqrt{f_{H_u} f_{H_d}}} \left[ \frac{6}{3\omega'_S} \left( c_s - \frac{1}{3} \right) - s \partial_{s,u} \ln \gamma \right] M_{1/2} \sim \mathcal{O}\left( M_{1/2} \right) , \qquad (3.28)$$

where again there is a cancellation at  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-1})$  between the term proportional to  $m_{3/2}$ in (3.25) and the leading order contribution from  $\overline{F}^{\overline{T}_b} \partial_{\overline{T}_b} Z$ . The dominant contributions to (3.28) come from the F-terms of  $T_b$ , S and U. On the other hand, the  $B\hat{\mu}$ -term behaves as the soft scalar masses since both F- and D-term contributions can be rewritten as

$$B\hat{\mu}|_{F,D} = \frac{\gamma}{\sqrt{f_{H_u} f_{H_d}}} \ m_0^2 \big|_{F,D} \ . \tag{3.29}$$

Recalling our results for  $m_0^2$ , we realise that in the local limit the leading contribution to  $B\hat{\mu}$  comes from F-terms and scales as  $m_0^2|_F$  in (3.15). Hence the final result for  $B\hat{\mu}$  is

$$B\hat{\mu} = \frac{\gamma}{\sqrt{f_{H_u}f_{H_d}}} \frac{5\left(c_s - \frac{1}{3}\right)}{\omega'_S} m_{3/2}M_{1/2} \sim \mathcal{O}\left(m_{3/2}^2 \frac{\left(\ln \mathcal{V}\right)^{3/2}}{\mathcal{V}}\right).$$
(3.30)

Ultra-local limit: similarly to the ultra-local limit for  $\tilde{K}_{\alpha}$  defined by (3.9), we can define also an ultra-local limit for  $Z = \gamma(U, S)\tilde{K}$  as  $Z \equiv z(U, S) e^{K/3}$  which implies

$$\gamma(U,S) = \frac{z(U,S) e^{K_{\rm cs}/3}}{(2s)^{1/3}}$$
 and  $c_s = c_{\rm dS} = \frac{1}{3}$ . (3.31)

In this limit the F-term of  $T_b$  does not contribute to  $\hat{\mu}$  whose expression simplifies to

$$\hat{\mu} = -\frac{z \, s \partial_{s,u} \ln \gamma}{\sqrt{h_{H_u} h_{H_d}}} \, M_{1/2} \sim \mathcal{O}\left(M_{1/2}\right) \,. \tag{3.32}$$

In this ultra-local case the expression (3.26) for  $B\hat{\mu}|_F$  gives

$$B\hat{\mu}|_{F} = \frac{z}{\sqrt{h_{H_{u}}h_{H_{d}}}} \left[\sigma(U,S) M_{1/2}^{2} - \frac{1}{3}V_{F,0}\right], \qquad (3.33)$$

where  $\sigma(U, S)$  is a complicated  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  function of S and U which looks like

$$\sigma(U,S) = \frac{1}{9} \left( 1 - s\beta^{U_i} \partial_{u_i} K_{cs} \right) \left[ 1 - 3s\partial_{s,u} \ln \left( h_{H_u} h_{H_d} \right) \right] + s\partial_{s,u} \ln \left( h_{H_u} h_{H_d} \right) s\partial_{s,u} \ln z - s^2 \left[ \partial_s \ln z \, \partial_{s,u} \ln \partial_s z + \beta^{U_i} \partial_{u_i} \ln z \, \partial_{s,u} \ln \partial_{u_i} z \right] \,.$$

Recalling that  $V_0 = V_{F,0} + V_{D,0} = 0$ ,  $V_{F,0}$  can be traded for  $V_{D,0}$ , and so we shall include it in our analysis of D-term contributions to  $B\hat{\mu}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>However in models with a shift-symmetric Higgs sector  $f_{H_u} = f_{H_d} = \gamma$  [64–68].

1. In the dS case 1 of section 2.3.1, the D-term generated  $B\hat{\mu}$  is

$$B\hat{\mu}|_{D} = \frac{z}{\sqrt{h_{H_{u}}h_{H_{d}}}} m_{0}^{2}|_{D} = \frac{z}{\sqrt{h_{H_{u}}h_{H_{d}}}} \frac{6\epsilon_{s}}{\omega_{S}'} m_{3/2}M_{1/2} \sim \mathcal{O}\left(m_{3/2}^{2} \frac{\sqrt{\ln \mathcal{V}}}{\mathcal{V}}\right), \quad (3.34)$$

where we used the result in (3.19). This term dominates over the F-term contribution given in (3.33).

2. In the dS case 2 of section 2.3.2, the D-term generated  $B\hat{\mu}$  is vanishing since

$$B\hat{\mu}|_{D} = \frac{z}{\sqrt{h_{H_{u}}h_{H_{d}}}} m_{0}^{2}|_{D} = \frac{z}{\sqrt{h_{H_{u}}h_{H_{d}}}} 2\left(c_{\rm dS} - \frac{1}{3}\right) V_{D,0} = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad c_{\rm dS} = \frac{1}{3},$$
(3.35)

where we used the result in (3.21). Thus in this case  $B\hat{\mu}$  is generated purely by Fterms and it is given by (3.33) without the term proportional to  $V_{F,0}$  that we included in the D-term contribution. Hence the final result for  $B\hat{\mu}$  is

$$B\hat{\mu} = \frac{z}{\sqrt{h_{H_u}h_{H_d}}} \,\sigma(U,S) \,M_{1/2}^2 \sim \mathcal{O}\left(M_{1/2}^2\right) \,. \tag{3.36}$$

**Superpotential contributions.** Let us discuss the contributions to  $\hat{\mu}$  and  $B\hat{\mu}$  from  $\mu \neq 0$  in  $W_{\text{matter}}$  given by (2.4). Their general expression in gravity mediation reads [60]

$$\hat{\mu} = \mu \, e^{K/2} \left( \tilde{K}_{H_u} \tilde{K}_{H_d} \right)^{-1/2} \,, \tag{3.37}$$

$$B\hat{\mu} = \mu e^{K/2} \left[ F^I \left( K_I + \partial_I \ln \mu - \partial_I \ln \left( \tilde{K}_{H_u} \tilde{K}_{H_d} \right) \right) - m_{3/2} \right] \left( \tilde{K}_{H_u} \tilde{K}_{H_d} \right)^{-1/2} . (3.38)$$

Non-perturbative effects: non-perturbative effects can generate in the low-energy action an effective  $\mu$ -term of the form (up to prefactors)

$$W \supset e^{-aT} H_u H_d \quad \Rightarrow \quad \mu_{\text{eff}} = e^{-aT} \,,$$

$$(3.39)$$

if the cycle  $\tau = \operatorname{Re}(T)$  is in the geometric regime [69] or

$$W \supset e^{-b(S+\kappa T)}H_uH_d \quad \Rightarrow \quad \mu_{\text{eff}} = e^{-b(S+\kappa T)},$$
(3.40)

if the cycle  $\tau = \text{Re}(T)$  is in the singular regime, i.e.  $\tau \to 0$  [70]. Note that there are two distinct classes of non-perturbative contributions leading to the above EFT coupling: if the Higgs bi-linear is forbidden by anomalous U(1) symmetries, charged instanton contributions for instance via ED3 can realise such a coupling [69, 70]. Alternatively, if the Higgs-bilinear is forbidden by an approximate global symmetry of the local model, this global symmetry is broken by compactification effects. For the latter case, ref. [47] studied the topological conditions under which non-perturbative effects of the form (3.39) and (3.40) contribute to the effective action. If T is a bulk cycle, the coupling (3.39) is always generated but in our case it would be negligible since this effect would be proportional to  $e^{-\mathcal{V}^{2/3}}$ . On the other hand, if T is the blow-up of a local singularity, the couplings (3.39) and (3.40) get generated only if this divisor shares a homologous two-cycle with the blow-up mode  $T_{\text{SM}}$  of the MSSM singularity. This condition is not satisfied if either T or  $T_{\rm SM}$  is a very simple divisor like a dP<sub>0</sub> which has been used in the explicit global models of [26] and [28].

If in both cases the appropriate conditions are satisfied, both (3.39) and (3.40) would lead to a non-vanishing contribution which can be parameterised as follows

$$\hat{\mu} \simeq \frac{c_{\mu}(U,S)}{\mathcal{V}^{n+\frac{1}{3}}} \quad \text{and} \quad B\hat{\mu} \simeq \frac{c_B(U,S)}{\mathcal{V}^{n+\frac{4}{3}}},$$
(3.41)

where in (3.39) we have set  $T = T_s$  and  $a = na_s$  with n > 0, while in (3.40) we have parameterised  $b = na_s$  recalling that  $s \simeq \tau_s$  from (2.16).  $c_{\mu}$  and  $c_B$  are constants which absorb the dependence on the prefactor of the instanton contribution, the complex structure moduli and the dilaton. Note that for different values of n non-perturbative effects could generate  $\hat{\mu}$  and  $B\hat{\mu}$  in the complete range interesting for MSSM phenomenology regardless of the size of the other soft-terms. However these effects can be in competition with Kähler potential contributions for  $n \geq 5/3$ .

Background fluxes: primitive (1,2) IASD fluxes can generate  $\hat{\mu}$  for D3-branes at singularities [71–73]. However, given that their contribution is proportional to the F-terms of the complex structure moduli, this effect has already been included in the contributions from the Kähler potential. In other words, direct computations of soft terms by reducing the D3-brane action in a fluxed background show that  $\mu = 0$  [73].

Anomalous U(1) symmetries. A term proportional to  $H_uH_d$  in K or W could be forbidden in the presence of an anomalous U(1) symmetry. In this case, the only way to generate a Higgs bilinear would be to multiply this term by an operator involving a U(1)charged field which makes the whole contribution gauge invariant. As already discussed above, the only closed string moduli that can lead to such an effect are Kähler moduli.

Alternatively, the U(1)-charged field could be an open string mode  $\Phi$  appearing in K and W in a gauge invariant combination of the form ( $\Lambda$  denotes the appropriate moduli-dependent cut-off)

$$K \supset \left(\frac{\Phi}{\Lambda}\right)^m H_u H_d, \qquad W \supset \frac{\Phi^m}{\Lambda^{m-1}} H_u H_d.$$
 (3.42)

Thus the field  $\Phi$  has to be an MSSM singlet since a Higgs bilinear gets generated only when  $\Phi$  develops a non-zero VEV breaking the U(1) symmetry. However, as can be seen from eqs. (2.9) and (2.10), D-term stabilisation fixes the VEV of  $\Phi$  in terms of  $\tau_{\rm SM}$ :  $|\Phi|^2 \propto \tau_{\rm SM}/\mathcal{V}$ , and so the couplings in (3.42) would give rise to effective  $\mu$  and Z-terms which depend only on closed string moduli

$$Z_{\rm eff} \propto \frac{1}{\Lambda^m} \left(\frac{\tau_{\rm SM}}{\mathcal{V}}\right)^{m/2}, \qquad \mu_{\rm eff} \propto \frac{1}{\Lambda^{m-1}} \left(\frac{\tau_{\rm SM}}{\mathcal{V}}\right)^{m/2}.$$
 (3.43)

Once the cut-off  $\Lambda$  is explicitly written in terms of *T*-moduli, one could plug (3.43) into the standard supergravity formulae to work out the final contribution to  $\hat{\mu}$  and  $B\hat{\mu}$ . The result will depend on the VEV and the F-term of  $T_{\rm SM}$ . As discussed in [28],  $\Phi$  needs to receive tachyonic contribution from soft terms in order for  $T_{\rm SM}$  to develop a non-zero VEV. If this condition is satisfied,  $\tau_{\rm SM} \sim \mathcal{V}^{-1}$  implying  $F^{T_{\rm SM}} \sim \mathcal{V}^{-2}$  for the local case and  $\tau_{\rm SM} \sim \mathcal{V}^{-3}$  implying  $F^{T_{\rm SM}} \sim \mathcal{V}^{-4}$  for the ultra-local case. This effect corresponds to switching on an FI-term, and so to breaking the anomalous U(1) by moving slightly away from the singularity. However in both cases the VEV of  $\tau_{\rm SM}$  is smaller than unity, and so we are still consistently in the singular regime.

Given that all these results are clearly model-dependent and require physics beyond the MSSM, at this stage we do not pursue these options in more detail and leave them for future work. Let us just mention that the only case where the effective  $\mu$ -term in (3.43) does not depend on  $\Lambda$  is for m = 1. In this situation  $\hat{\mu}$  would scale as  $\mathcal{V}^{-4/3}$  in the local case and as  $\mathcal{V}^{-7/3}$  in the ultra-local case. If instead  $\Phi$  does not receive tachyonic contributions from soft terms, another option would be to consider models where  $\Phi$ develops a non-zero VEV because of radiative effects.

### 3.4 Summary of soft-terms

Let us summarise our results for the soft-terms in the two cases to obtain dS vacua (see also table 1). Given that in each case the gaugino masses turn out to have the same value, we will use  $M_{1/2}$  as a useful parameter which can be rewritten as

$$M_{1/2} = c_{1/2} m_{3/2} \frac{m_{3/2}}{M_P} \left[ \ln \left( \frac{M_P}{m_{3/2}} \right) \right]^{3/2} \ll m_{3/2} , \qquad (3.44)$$

where  $c_{1/2}$  is a flux-dependent tunable coefficient. We will state our results for the modelindependent case where  $\hat{\mu}$  and  $B\hat{\mu}$  are generated from moduli induced Kähler potential contributions. If these contributions are absent (for example if these terms are forbidden by anomalous U(1) symmetries), then  $\hat{\mu}$  and  $B\hat{\mu}$  can take different values because of modeldependent contributions from either K or W as discussed in section 3.3.4. Let us discuss the local and ultra-local limits separately.

Local limit: in the local limit, the soft-terms turn out to be the same in both dS mechanisms (all the c's are flux-dependent parameters)

$$m_0^2 = c_0 \, m_{3/2} M_{1/2} \,, \quad A_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = (c_A)_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \, M_{1/2} \,, \quad \hat{\mu} = c_\mu \, M_{1/2} \,, \quad B\hat{\mu} = c_B m_0^2 \,. \tag{3.45}$$

Ultra-local limit: in the ultra-local limit, the soft-terms take different forms in the two dS cases (again all the c's are flux-dependent coefficients which are distinct in different scenarios)

1. dS vacua from hidden matter fields

. .

$$m_0^2 = c_0 \frac{m_{3/2} M_{1/2}}{\ln\left(M_P/m_{3/2}\right)}, \quad A_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = (c_A)_{\alpha\beta\gamma} M_{1/2}, \quad \hat{\mu} = c_\mu M_{1/2}, \quad B\hat{\mu} = c_B m_0^2;$$
(3.46)

2. dS vacua from non-perturbative effects at singularities

$$m_{\alpha} = (c_0)_{\alpha} M_{1/2}, \quad A_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = (c_A)_{\alpha\beta\gamma} M_{1/2}, \quad \hat{\mu} = c_{\mu} M_{1/2}, \quad B\hat{\mu} = c_B M_{1/2}^2.$$
 (3.47)

| Soft term               | Local Models  | Ultra Local $dS_1$                                | Ultra Local $dS_2$         |  |  |
|-------------------------|---|---|----------------------------|--|--|
| $M_{1/2}$               | $c_{1/2} m_{3/2} \frac{m_{3/2}}{M_P} \left[ \ln \left( \frac{M_P}{m_{3/2}} \right) \right]^{3/2}$ |   |                            |  |  |
| $m_{\alpha}^2$          | $c_0 m_{3/2} M_{1/2}$   | $c_0 \; \frac{m_{3/2} M_{1/2}}{\ln(M_P/m_{3/2})}$ | $(c_0)_{\alpha} M_{1/2}^2$ |  |  |
| $A_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$ | $(c_A)_{\alpha\beta\gamma} M_{1/2}$   |   |                            |  |  |
| _                       | $c_{\mu} M_{1/2}$   | (contrib  | oution from $K$ )          |  |  |
| $\mu$                   | $c_{\mu}M_{P}\left[\frac{m_{3/2}}{M_{P}}\right]$  | n+1/3 (contrib                                    | (contribution from $W$ )   |  |  |
| DÂ                      | $c_B m_0^2$ (contribution from K)   |   | ution from $K$ )           |  |  |
| $B\hat{\mu}$            | $c_B m_{3/2} \left[ \frac{m_{3/2}}{M_P} \right]^{n+1/3}$ (contribution from W)                    |   |                            |  |  |

**Table 1.** Summary of soft-terms for different sequestered scenarios for the two dS mechanisms discussed in the text: hidden sector matter  $(dS_1)$  and non-perturbative effects at singularities  $(dS_2)$ . All soft terms are hierarchically smaller than  $m_{3/2}$ . Gaugino masses, A-terms and the  $\hat{\mu}$ -term take the same value in each case whereas scalar masses and hence the  $B\hat{\mu}$ -term are model-dependent. The coefficients c are flux dependent and can generically take different values in each scenario presented here while n is a positive model-dependent parameter (see section 3.3.4). They can be tuned to compare with data. Local and ultra-local 1 cases give a split SUSY spectrum while ultra local 2 implies a standard MSSM spectrum with soft-masses of the same order and possible small non-universalities due to the flux dependent parameters c.

Clearly, the local limit and the dS case 1 for the ultra-local limit correspond to typical (mini) split SUSY scenarios whereas the dS case 2 for the ultra-local limit reproduces a standard MSSM picture with universal gaugino masses and soft masses all of the same order. If the flux dependent coefficients for the scalar masses are universal  $(c_0)_{\alpha} = c_0$ , a standard CMSSM scenario emerges. Non-universalities in the flux dependent coefficients can lead to interesting soft-term patterns such as in NUHM or natural SUSY scenarios. We will study in detail the LHC phenomenology of these different scenarios in a subsequent paper [49].

For illustrative purposes, we just mention here two simple benchmark models for the dS case 2 in the ultra-local limit. Setting all the  $\beta$ 's to zero, we find

Benchmark model 1:  $h_{\alpha} = z = 1$ 

$$m_{\alpha} \simeq 0 \ \forall \alpha , \quad A_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = (c_A)_{\alpha\beta\gamma} M_{1/2} , \quad \hat{\mu} = \frac{M_{1/2}}{3} , \quad B\hat{\mu} = \hat{\mu}^2 ,$$
 (3.48)

where  $(c_A)_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = s\partial_s \ln Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$ . This reproduces a typical gaugino mediation scenario [74, 75]. Benchmark model 2:  $f_{\alpha} = \gamma = 1$ 

$$m_{\alpha} = m_0 = \frac{M_{1/2}}{\sqrt{3}} \,\,\forall \alpha \,, \quad A = -\sqrt{3} \,m_0 \,, \quad \hat{\mu} \simeq \frac{m_0}{\ln\left(M_P/m_{3/2}\right)} \,, \quad B\hat{\mu} = m_0^2 \,, \qquad (3.49)$$

if the holomorphic Yukawas do not depend on S. This leads to a typical natural SUSY scenario for example if we allow  $m_{H_u}$  to be slightly larger than  $m_0$  together with a light third generation [76]. This can be done by considering the more general case with non-zero  $\beta$ 's and allowing for a U-dependence in  $f_{\alpha}$ . The ln  $(M_P/m_{3/2})$  suppression of  $\hat{\mu}$  with respect to  $m_0$  comes from subleading contributions to  $\hat{\mu}$  from  $F^{T_s}$ .

#### 4 Conclusions

In this paper we have analysed soft-terms for LVS sequestered models with dS moduli stabilisation. These models are particularly attractive for phenomenological reasons: the string scale is around the GUT scale, soft masses are at the TeV scale and the lightest modulus is much heavier than the bound imposed by the cosmological moduli problem. The volume of the compactification is of order  $\mathcal{V} \sim 10^7$  in string units and the visible sector can be localised on D3-branes at a singularity.

The pattern of soft terms for these models has been previously studied in [33]. In this paper we have deepened the analysis of [33] by studying the effect on soft terms of the sector responsible to realise a dS vacuum, and by classifying in a systematic way any possible correction to the leading no-scale structure of soft terms. In particular, given that soft terms depend on the moduli-dependence of the Kähler metric for matter fields  $\tilde{K}_{\alpha}$ , we defined two possible limits for  $\tilde{K}_{\alpha}$ : Local scenarios where  $\tilde{K}_{\alpha}$  is such that the visible sector Yukawa couplings  $Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$  do not depend on  $\mathcal{V}$  only at leading order in an inverse volume expansion, and Ultra-local scenarios where  $Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$  are exactly independent on  $\mathcal{V}$  at all orders.<sup>17</sup> Moreover, due to the present lack of explicit string computations of  $\tilde{K}_{\alpha}$ , we parameterised its dependence on the dilaton and complex structure moduli as an unknown function  $f_{\alpha}(U, S)$ .

The computation of soft terms has produced a wide range of phenomenological possibilities depending on the exact moduli-dependence of the matter Kähler metric and the way to achieve a dS vacuum. We considered two dS realisations based on supersymmetric effective actions:  $dS \ case \ 1$  where hidden sector matter fields living on a bulk cycle develop non-vanishing F-terms because of D-term fixing, and  $dS \ case \ 2$  where the blow-up mode of a singularity different from the visible sector one develops non-zero F-terms due to non-perturbative effects. Broadly speaking, we found two classes of models:

- 1. Split SUSY: local models and ultra-local models in the dS case 1 yield gaugino masses and A-terms which are suppressed with respect to scalar masses:  $M_{1/2} \sim m_{3/2} \epsilon \ll m_0 \sim m_{3/2} \sqrt{\epsilon} \ll m_{3/2}$  for  $\epsilon \sim m_{3/2}/M_P \ll 1$ . For volumes of order of 10<sup>7</sup> in string units these models provide a version of the split SUSY scenario with a 'largish' splitting between gauginos and scalars (according to current experimental bounds). Non-universalities are present but suppressed by inverse powers of the volume.
- 2. Standard MSSM: for ultra-local models in the dS case 2, all soft-terms are of the same order:  $M_{1/2} \sim m_0 \sim m_{3/2} \epsilon \ll m_{3/2}$ . Therefore these models include the CMSSM parameter space and its possible generalisations since each soft-term comes along with a tunable flux-dependent coefficient. Moreover, depending on the exact functional dependence of the Kähler metric for matter fields, these models can also feature non-universalities which are constrained by the experimental bounds on flavour changing neutral currents.

Let us stress again that the exact numerical coefficients of the soft terms are functions of the dilaton and complex structure moduli which are fixed in terms of flux quanta. Hence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>Evidence in favour of ultralocality has been obtained from explicit string computations in toroidal orbifolds [46]. The case of realistic CY compactifications remains to be explored.

soft terms vary as one scans through the string landscape. This crucial property of our scenarios gives supersymmetric models the freedom to perform any tuning which is needed for phenomenological reasons. In particular, it is low energy SUSY that addresses the hierarchy problem by stabilising the Higgs mass at the weak scale, while scanning through the landscape provides small variations in the size of soft terms as necessary to reproduce all the detailed features of experimental data. This tuning at low energies can be viewed as a choice of parameters in the high scale theory. There is a large freedom of choice in the high scale theory which is however not arbitrary since this freedom is provided by the theory itself (by having a computable landscape of vacua).

Note that in the ultra-local case the two ways to achieve a dS vacuum give rise to a different pattern of soft terms. This can intuitively be understood as follows: the depth of the LVS AdS vacuum is of order  $m_{3/2}^2\epsilon$ , and so any extra term which yields a dS solution has to be of this order of magnitude. In turn, if the field  $\phi$  responsible for dS uplifting is not decoupled from the visible sector, scalar masses of order  $m_{3/2}\sqrt{\epsilon}$  are expected to arise because of this new contribution to the scalar potential. This is actually what happens in the dS case 1 since  $\phi$  lives on a bulk cycle, and so it is not decoupled from the visible sector. On the other hand, in the dS case 2  $\phi$  lives on a singularity which is geometrically separated from the visible sector, resulting in suppressed scalar masses.

We would also like to emphasise that our analysis for the dS case 1, together with [26] (which provided visible sector models embedded in moduli stabilised compact CYs), provides a very comprehensive study of SUSY breaking in string theory.

The soft terms which are more complicated to estimate are the  $\hat{\mu}$  and  $B\hat{\mu}$ -terms since they receive contributions from both the Kähler potential and the superpotential. Moreover, these contributions could generically be forbidden in models with branes at singularities because of the presence of anomalous U(1) symmetries. In this case, effective  $\hat{\mu}$  and  $B\hat{\mu}$ -terms could still be generated due to non-perturbative corrections (e.g. D-brane instantons) or matter fields which develop non-vanishing VEVs. However in this last case, besides the need to go beyond the MSSM by including additional matter fields, any prediction for  $\hat{\mu}$  and  $B\hat{\mu}$ -terms would necessarily be model-dependent.

Overall, we are living exciting times with plenty of feedback from experiments. A detailed study of the phenomenology of the general sequestered scenarios mentioned above will be presented in a follow-up article [49].

# Acknowledgments

We thank Joe Conlon, Emilian Dudas, Bhaskar Dutta, Luis Ibáñez, Roberto Valandro, Giovanni Villadoro and Martin Winkler for useful discussions. MC, SK, AM and FM would like to thank the ICTP for hospitality. The work of SK is supported by the DFG under TR33 "The Dark Universe". The work of AM is supported in part by a Ramanujan fellowship.

#### A Subleading corrections to F-terms

In this appendix we first describe the shift of the LVS minimum after including an extra term responsible to achieve a dS vacuum, and then provide subleading corrections to F-terms. As described in section 2.3, the mechanism which realises a dS vacuum gives rise effectively to an extra term of the form

$$V_{\rm dS} = \frac{r}{\mathcal{V}^m}$$
 with  $r > 0$  and  $m < 3$ . (A.1)

We are interested in minimising the combined system

$$V = V_{\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})} + V_{\rm dS},$$
 (A.2)

with the additional constraint of vanishing vacuum energy. This constraint relates the coefficient r with the tunable flux parameters in the LVS potential such as  $W_0$  or  $g_s$ . A concrete dS scenario, such as the ones in section 2.3, typically fixes r by construction with only moderate tuning. However the real tuning can be achieved by simply tuning the flux superpotential and the string coupling in agreement with the flux landscape.

The expressions for the moduli VEVs are largely independent on the way to get dS vacua. In fact, the relation (2.15) is generic whereas the expression (2.16) for the VEV of  $\tau_s$  depends on the way to get a dS vacuum. The exact minimum for  $\tau_s$  is given by

$$\tau_s^{3/2} = \frac{\hat{\xi}}{2} \frac{(1-\epsilon_s)^2}{(1-4\epsilon_s)} \frac{1}{1+\frac{2m}{m-3}\epsilon_s} = \frac{\hat{\xi}}{2} \left[1+f_{\rm dS}(\epsilon_s)\right], \tag{A.3}$$

and so the function  $f_{dS}$  is  $f_{dS} = 18\epsilon_s + 297\epsilon_s^2$  in the case of dS vacua from hidden matter fields (m = 8/3), while  $f_{dS} = 3\epsilon_s + 12\epsilon_s^2$  for the case of non-perturbative effects at singularities (m = 1). Note that as a consequence of the shift in  $\tau_s$ , also the overall volume in (2.15) is shifted and, as the shift is in the exponential, this shift can be parametrically large.

Equipped with the minimum, we can evaluate the F-terms. To simplify the notation we factor out an overall factor of the gravitino mass  $m_{3/2}$  which is given by (3.2). The F-terms turn out to have the following expressions:

$$\frac{F^{T_b}}{\tau_b} = -2m_{3/2} \left[ 1 + \frac{9\hat{\xi}\epsilon_s}{4\mathcal{V}} \frac{m-1}{m-3+2m\epsilon_s} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\mathcal{V}^2}\right) \right], \tag{A.4}$$

$$\frac{F^{T_s}}{\tau_s} = -2m_{3/2} \left[ \frac{3\epsilon_s}{(1-\epsilon_s)} - \frac{\hat{\xi}}{2\mathcal{V}} \left( 1 - \frac{9\epsilon_s}{2} \frac{m-1}{m-3} + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon_s^2\right) \right) \right], \tag{A.5}$$

$$\frac{F^{S}}{s} = \frac{3\omega'_{S}}{8a_{s}^{3/2}} \frac{m_{3/2}}{\mathcal{V}\epsilon_{s}^{3/2}} \left[1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon_{s}\right)\right], \qquad (A.6)$$

$$F^{U} = -\frac{K^{U_{i}\overline{U}_{\overline{j}}}}{2s^{2}}\frac{\omega_{\overline{U}_{\overline{j}}}}{\omega_{S}'}F^{S} \equiv \beta^{U_{i}}F^{S}, \qquad (A.7)$$

$$F^{\phi_{\rm dS}} = \phi_{\rm dS} m_{3/2} \left[ 1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\mathcal{V}}\right) \right] \,, \tag{A.8}$$

$$F^{T_{\rm dS}} = \frac{3}{4\sqrt{2}a_s^{3/4}} \frac{m_{3/2}}{\epsilon_s^{1/4}} \left[1 + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon_s)\right].$$
(A.9)

#### **B** Possible sources of desequestering

There is a general belief that in any supergravity theory once SUSY is broken all sparticles should get a mass at least of the order of the scale determined by the split in the gravity multiplet. In particular, all soft masses are expected to be of order the gravitino mass. Furthermore, if for some reason some of the sparticle masses are found to be smaller than  $m_{3/2}$  at tree level, since SUSY no longer protects these masses against quantum corrections, they should be lifted to a loop factor times  $m_{3/2}$ . So soft masses are expected to be at most one order of magnitude lighter than the gravitino mass but not much smaller.<sup>18</sup> Effects which tend to push the soft masses to the scale of the gravitino mass are referred to as sources of desequestering. In this appendix we will argue that our models can be stable against desequestering effects.

#### **B.1** Loop corrections

For sequestered string scenarios, it is natural to expect that loop corrections bring soft masses to a magnitude of order a loop factor times  $m_{3/2}$ . However there can be exceptions since the couplings can be Planck suppressed. A detailed calculation of loop corrections to the mass of bulk scalars like the volume modulus (its tree level mass  $m_{\mathcal{V}} \sim m_{3/2}/\mathcal{V}^{1/2}$  is hierarchically smaller than  $m_{3/2}$ ) was presented in [79].

The size of loop corrections can be estimated by realising that, if SUSY is broken, loop corrections to the mass should be given by the heaviest particles circulating in the loop (or the cut-off scale) which is the Kaluza-Klein scale  $M_{\rm KK} \sim M_P / \mathcal{V}^{2/3}$ . In the absence of SUSY there is a need of a SUSY breaking insertion (a spurion field representing the relevant F-term) in the loop and the correction to the mass is at most

$$\delta m = \alpha_{\text{loop}} \frac{M_{\text{KK}} m_{3/2}}{M_P} \sim \alpha_{\text{loop}} \frac{W_0}{\mathcal{V}^{5/3}} \ll \alpha_{\text{loop}} m_{3/2} \,, \tag{B.1}$$

with  $\alpha_{\text{loop}} \sim g^2/(16\pi^2)$  a loop factor. Note that the ratio  $\delta m/m \sim \alpha_{\text{loop}} \mathcal{V}^{-1/6}$  is very small and therefore the volume modulus mass is stable against loop corrections.

For matter fields located at the SM brane, loop corrections should be even further suppressed. The effective field theory on the brane is supersymmetric and feels the effects of SUSY breaking in the bulk only via Planck suppressed couplings. Therefore masses as small as  $M_{\rm soft} \sim W_0/\mathcal{V}^2$  are still stable under standard loop corrections (since volume suppressed brane-bulk couplings imply  $\delta M_{\rm soft} \ll \delta m$ ).

Over the years explicit calculations have been performed estimating loop corrections to soft masses in no-scale and general gravity mediated models. See for example [80, 81] in which loop corrections to scalar and gaugino masses were estimated in supergravity and Mtheory frameworks with results of order  $\delta m \sim \alpha_{\text{loop}} m_{3/2}^2/M_P \sim \alpha_{\text{loop}} M_P/\mathcal{V}^2$ . More recently, explicit calculations for gravitino loop contributions to gaugino masses was performed in [82]. The diagrams are quadratically divergent and proportional to the gravitino mass:

$$\delta M_{1/2} = \frac{m_{3/2}}{16\pi^2} \left( \frac{\Lambda^2}{M_P^2} + \dots \right) \,, \tag{B.2}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>This separation between  $m_{3/2}$  and soft masses occurs for example in the case of mirage (mixed moduli and anomaly) mediation [77, 78].

where  $\Lambda$  is the cut-off scale and the dots represent subleading logarithmically divergent terms. In string theory we expect that  $\Lambda \leq M_s \sim M_P / \mathcal{V}^{1/2}$  which then corrects the gaugino masses to order  $\delta M_{1/2} \leq \alpha_{\text{loop}} M_P / \mathcal{V}^2$  which is smaller than the sequestered gaugino masses  $M_{1/2} \sim M_P / \mathcal{V}^2$ .

This behaviour of sequestered models motivated the work of Randall and Sundrum to introduce anomaly mediation. However, as we will illustrate below, the approximate no-scale structure of LVS makes anomaly mediated corrections to soft-terms subleading (they vanish identically for no-scale models) in generic points of parameter space.

#### **B.2** Anomaly mediated contributions

In this appendix we examine anomaly mediated contributions to soft-terms and compute their strength in the dS constructions discussed in section 2.3. The anomaly mediated gaugino masses [83] are given by<sup>19</sup>

$$M_{1/2}^{\text{anom}} = \frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} \left[ (T_R - 3T_G) m_{3/2} + (T_G - T_R) F^I \partial_I K + \frac{2T_R}{d_R} F^I \partial_I \ln \det \tilde{K}_{\alpha\beta} \right], \quad (B.3)$$

where  $T_{G,R}$  are the Dynkin indices of the adjoint representation and the matter representation R of dimension  $d_R$  (summation over all matter representations is understood). Assuming that the Kähler metric for matter fields can be written as  $\tilde{K}_{\alpha\beta} = \delta_{\alpha\beta} f_{\alpha} \tilde{K}$ , the expression (B.3) reduces to

$$M_{1/2}^{\text{anom}} = \frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} \left[ \left( T_R - 3T_G \right) m_{3/2} + \left( T_G - T_R \right) F^I \partial_I K + \frac{2T_R}{\tilde{K}} F^I \partial_I \tilde{K} + \frac{2T_R}{d_R} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{d_R} F^I \partial_I \ln f_\alpha \right]. \tag{B.4}$$

In the local case, we find that the leading order anomaly mediated contribution can be written in terms of the modulus dominated gaugino mass  $M_{1/2}$  given in (3.13)

$$M_{1/2}^{\text{anom}} = \frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} \left[ (T_R - T_G) \left( 1 - s\beta^{U_i} \partial_{u_i} K_{\text{cs}} \right) - \frac{4T_R}{\omega'_S} \left( c_s - \frac{1}{3} \right) + \frac{2sT_R}{d_R} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{d_R} \partial_{s,u} \ln f_\alpha \right] M_{1/2}, \tag{B.5}$$

with  $\omega'_S$  as defined below (3.4). For the ultra-local case we find instead

$$M_{1/2}^{\text{anom}} = \frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} \left[ \left( \frac{T_R}{3} - T_G \right) \left( 1 - s\beta^{U_i} \partial_{u_i} K_{\text{cs}} \right) + \frac{2sT_R}{d_R} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{d_R} \partial_{s,u} \ln h_\alpha \right] M_{1/2} \,. \tag{B.6}$$

Therefore in both cases the anomaly mediated contribution is loop suppressed with respect to the moduli mediated one. This result is the consequence of the approximate no-scale structure of LVS models.

A more careful analysis is needed for a very particular point in the underlying parameter space:  $\omega'_S \to 0$ , i.e. in the very tuned situation where the F-term of the dilaton is vanishing at leading order because of a special compensation between the contribution to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Note that there is a certain discussion on the validity of this formula [84]. For the purpose of this paper we assume that the standard derivation from field theory or string theory [85] is valid.

 $F^S$  from  $D_SW$  and  $D_{T_b}W$ . In this case the leading contribution to gaugino masses given in (3.13) is zero and the first non-vanishing moduli mediated contribution can be estimated to scale as  $M_{1/2}^{\text{new}} \sim m_{3/2}\sqrt{\ln \mathcal{V}}/\mathcal{V}$ . On the other hand, the anomaly mediated contribution scales as  $M_{1/2}^{\text{new}} \sim c M_{1/2}^{\text{new}}$  where  $c = c' \left(\frac{g^2}{16\pi^2}\right) \ln \mathcal{V}$  and c' denotes a numerical factor arising from evaluating (B.6) exactly. For  $g \simeq 0.1$  and  $\mathcal{V} \simeq 5 \cdot 10^6$  (the value needed to get  $M_{1/2}^{\text{new}}$  approximately around the TeV-scale), c is roughly of order  $c' \times 10^{-3}$ . Depending on the exact value of c', which is beyond the scope of this analysis, we can achieve competing contributions from moduli mediation and anomaly mediation.

#### **B.3** Moduli redefinitions

Desequestering can also potentially occur due to moduli redefinitions which might be necessary order by order in perturbation theory. This desequestering effect can for example arise due to a shift of the local cycle  $\tau_{\rm SM} \rightarrow \tau_{\rm SM} + \alpha \ln \mathcal{V}$  which has the effect of making the soft-terms of the same order as the gravitino mass [34, 35].

Such moduli redefinitions depend on the structure of the D-brane configuration. In particular, it has been argued that redefinitions are absent for configurations involving only D3-branes at orbifold singularities but are present for D3-branes at orientifold singularities and in cases with both D3- and D7-branes (see [34]).

We emphasise that desequestering occurs only if the moduli redefinition leads to a change in the functional form of the Kähler potential. Arguments suggesting a change in the functional form were presented in [34] but an explicit computation of such a change is still not available in the literature. Some recent explicit computations of the Kähler potential [86, 87] have shown that perturbative corrections can be such that, along with a field redefinition, there is also an additional term generated in the Kähler potential. In these cases, however, the two effects conspire to leave the functional form of the Kähler potential are crucial to get a comprehensive understanding of the relationship between moduli redefinitions and desequestering.

#### **B.4** Superpotential desequestering

Apart from potentially destroying the hierarchy between soft masses and  $m_{3/2}$ , various subleading effects can have important phenomenological consequences. Interesting constraints arise from non-perturbative terms in the superpotential involving visible sector fields [45]. Superpotential terms of the type

$$\hat{W} = \left(\hat{\mu}H_{u}H_{d} + \hat{\lambda}_{ij}^{u}Q^{i}u^{j}H_{u} + \hat{\lambda}_{ij}^{d}Q^{i}d^{j}H_{d} + \hat{\lambda}_{ij}^{u}L^{i}e^{j}H_{d}\right)e^{-a_{s}T_{s}},$$
(B.7)

would lead to flavour violation and CP-violation via A-terms with a strength sensitive to the hierarchy between soft masses and  $m_{3/2}$ . For  $M_{\text{soft}}^2 \sim m_{3/2}^2 / \mathcal{V}^n$  the strength of CP and flavour violation induced by A-terms would be

$$\delta \sim \mathcal{V}^n 10^{-16} \left( \frac{v}{100 \text{ GeV}} \right) \,, \tag{B.8}$$

with v equal to the Higgs VEV. CP violation and FCNC bounds then require  $\mathcal{V} < 10^5$ . This gives a slight tension with our results but there can be several ways around this issue. The estimate (B.8) is based on effective field theory arguments; it assumes generic order one coefficients for the superpotential terms in (B.7). A string computation of the coefficients was done in [47]. This indicates that the coefficients are suppressed unless the SM cycle and the cycle on which the instanton is supported share a homologous two-cycle. The presence of flavour symmetries [41, 53, 88, 89] in the visible sector can also alleviate this tension.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

# References

- [1] N. Craig, The state of supersymmetry after run I of the LHC, arXiv:1309.0528 [INSPIRE].
- [2] R. Kitano and Y. Nomura, Dark matter before the LHC in a natural supersymmetric standard model, Phys. Lett. B 632 (2006) 162 [hep-ph/0509221] [INSPIRE].
- M. Papucci, J.T. Ruderman and A. Weiler, Natural SUSY endures, JHEP 09 (2012) 035 [arXiv:1110.6926] [INSPIRE].
- [4] C. Brust, A. Katz, S. Lawrence and R. Sundrum, SUSY, the third generation and the LHC, JHEP 03 (2012) 103 [arXiv:1110.6670] [INSPIRE].
- [5] O. Lebedev, H.P. Nilles and M. Ratz, A note on fine-tuning in mirage mediation, hep-ph/0511320 [INSPIRE].
- [6] T.J. LeCompte and S.P. Martin, Large Hadron Collider reach for supersymmetric models with compressed mass spectra, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 015004 [arXiv:1105.4304] [INSPIRE].
- B.C. Allanach and B. Gripaios, *Hide and seek with natural supersymmetry at the LHC*, JHEP 05 (2012) 062 [arXiv:1202.6616] [INSPIRE].
- [8] J.A. Evans and Y. Kats, LHC coverage of RPV MSSM with light stops, JHEP 04 (2013) 028 [arXiv:1209.0764] [INSPIRE].
- [9] G.G. Ross, K. Schmidt-Hoberg and F. Staub, The generalised NMSSM at one loop: fine tuning and phenomenology, JHEP 08 (2012) 074 [arXiv:1205.1509] [INSPIRE].
- [10] R. Bousso and J. Polchinski, Quantization of four form fluxes and dynamical neutralization of the cosmological constant, JHEP 06 (2000) 006 [hep-th/0004134] [INSPIRE].
- [11] N. Arkani-Hamed and S. Dimopoulos, Supersymmetric unification without low energy supersymmetry and signatures for fine-tuning at the LHC, JHEP 06 (2005) 073
   [hep-th/0405159] [INSPIRE].
- [12] S. Krippendorf, H.P. Nilles, M. Ratz and M.W. Winkler, Hidden SUSY from precision gauge unification, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 035022 [arXiv:1306.0574] [INSPIRE].
- [13] S. Krippendorf, H.P. Nilles, M. Ratz and M.W. Winkler, The heterotic string yields natural supersymmetry, Phys. Lett. B 712 (2012) 87 [arXiv:1201.4857] [INSPIRE].
- [14] M. Badziak, S. Krippendorf, H.P. Nilles and M.W. Winkler, The heterotic MiniLandscape and the 126 GeV Higgs boson, JHEP 03 (2013) 094 [arXiv:1212.0854] [INSPIRE].

- [15] BICEP2 collaboration, P.A.R. Ade et al., Detection of B-mode polarization at degree angular scales by BICEP2, Phys. Rev. Lett. 112 (2014) 241101 [arXiv:1403.3985] [INSPIRE].
- [16] K. Choi, A. Falkowski, H.P. Nilles and M. Olechowski, Soft supersymmetry breaking in KKLT flux compactification, Nucl. Phys. B 718 (2005) 113 [hep-th/0503216] [INSPIRE].
- [17] H.P. Nilles, M. Olechowski and M. Yamaguchi, Supersymmetry breaking and soft terms in M-theory, Phys. Lett. B 415 (1997) 24 [hep-th/9707143] [INSPIRE].
- [18] J.P. Conlon and F. Quevedo, Gaugino and scalar masses in the landscape, JHEP 06 (2006) 029 [hep-th/0605141] [INSPIRE].
- [19] J.P. Conlon, S.S. AbdusSalam, F. Quevedo and K. Suruliz, Soft SUSY breaking terms for chiral matter in IIB string compactifications, JHEP 01 (2007) 032 [hep-th/0610129]
   [INSPIRE].
- [20] V. Lowen and H.P. Nilles, Mirage pattern from the heterotic string, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 106007 [arXiv:0802.1137] [INSPIRE].
- [21] S.P. de Alwis, Classical and quantum SUSY breaking effects in IIB local models, JHEP 03 (2010) 078 [arXiv:0912.2950] [INSPIRE].
- [22] M. Cicoli, S. de Alwis and A. Westphal, *Heterotic moduli stabilisation*, JHEP 10 (2013) 199 [arXiv:1304.1809] [INSPIRE].
- [23] B.S. Acharya, K. Bobkov, G.L. Kane, J. Shao and P. Kumar, *The G<sub>2</sub>-MSSM: an M-theory motivated model of particle physics*, *Phys. Rev.* D 78 (2008) 065038 [arXiv:0801.0478]
   [INSPIRE].
- [24] V. Balasubramanian, P. Berglund, J.P. Conlon and F. Quevedo, Systematics of moduli stabilisation in Calabi-Yau flux compactifications, JHEP 03 (2005) 007 [hep-th/0502058]
   [INSPIRE].
- [25] M. Cicoli, C. Mayrhofer and R. Valandro, Moduli stabilisation for chiral global models, JHEP 02 (2012) 062 [arXiv:1110.3333] [INSPIRE].
- [26] M. Cicoli, S. Krippendorf, C. Mayrhofer, F. Quevedo and R. Valandro, *D-branes at del Pezzo singularities: global embedding and moduli stabilisation*, *JHEP* 09 (2012) 019 [arXiv:1206.5237] [INSPIRE].
- [27] M. Cicoli, S. Krippendorf, C. Mayrhofer, F. Quevedo and R. Valandro, D3/D7 branes at singularities: constraints from global embedding and moduli stabilisation, JHEP 07 (2013) 150 [arXiv:1304.0022] [INSPIRE].
- [28] M. Cicoli et al., Explicit de Sitter flux vacua for global string models with chiral matter, JHEP 05 (2014) 001 [arXiv:1312.0014] [INSPIRE].
- [29] M. Cicoli, A. Maharana, F. Quevedo and C.P. Burgess, De Sitter string vacua from dilaton-dependent non-perturbative effects, JHEP 06 (2012) 011 [arXiv:1203.1750] [INSPIRE].
- [30] J.P. Conlon, F. Quevedo and K. Suruliz, Large-volume flux compactifications: moduli spectrum and D3/D7 soft supersymmetry breaking, JHEP 08 (2005) 007 [hep-th/0505076]
   [INSPIRE].
- [31] G. Aldazabal, L.E. Ibáñez, F. Quevedo and A.M. Uranga, *D*-branes at singularities: a bottom up approach to the string embedding of the standard model, JHEP 08 (2000) 002 [hep-th/0005067] [INSPIRE].

- [32] R. Blumenhagen, S. Moster and E. Plauschinn, Moduli stabilisation versus chirality for MSSM like type IIB orientifolds, JHEP 01 (2008) 058 [arXiv:0711.3389] [INSPIRE].
- [33] R. Blumenhagen, J.P. Conlon, S. Krippendorf, S. Moster and F. Quevedo, SUSY breaking in local string/F-theory models, JHEP 09 (2009) 007 [arXiv:0906.3297] [INSPIRE].
- [34] J.P. Conlon and F.G. Pedro, Moduli redefinitions and moduli stabilisation, JHEP 06 (2010) 082 [arXiv:1003.0388] [INSPIRE].
- [35] K. Choi, H.P. Nilles, C.S. Shin and M. Trapletti, Sparticle spectrum of large volume compactification, JHEP 02 (2011) 047 [arXiv:1011.0999] [INSPIRE].
- [36] C.S. Shin, Anomalous U(1) mediation in large volume compactification, JHEP 01 (2012) 084
   [arXiv:1108.5740] [INSPIRE].
- [37] G.D. Coughlan, W. Fischler, E.W. Kolb, S. Raby and G.G. Ross, Cosmological problems for the Polonyi potential, Phys. Lett. B 131 (1983) 59 [INSPIRE].
- [38] T. Banks, D.B. Kaplan and A.E. Nelson, Cosmological implications of dynamical supersymmetry breaking, Phys. Rev. D 49 (1994) 779 [hep-ph/9308292] [INSPIRE].
- [39] B. de Carlos, J.A. Casas, F. Quevedo and E. Roulet, Model independent properties and cosmological implications of the dilaton and moduli sectors of 4D strings, *Phys. Lett.* B 318 (1993) 447 [hep-ph/9308325] [INSPIRE].
- [40] G. Aldazabal, L.E. Ibáñez and F. Quevedo, A D<sup>-</sup> brane alternative to the MSSM, JHEP 02 (2000) 015 [hep-ph/0001083] [INSPIRE].
- [41] M.J. Dolan, S. Krippendorf and F. Quevedo, Towards a systematic construction of realistic D-brane models on a del Pezzo singularity, JHEP 10 (2011) 024 [arXiv:1106.6039]
   [INSPIRE].
- [42] J.P. Conlon, C.H. Kom, K. Suruliz, B.C. Allanach and F. Quevedo, Sparticle spectra and LHC signatures for large volume string compactifications, JHEP 08 (2007) 061 [arXiv:0704.3403] [INSPIRE].
- [43] J.P. Conlon, Gauge threshold corrections for local string models, JHEP 04 (2009) 059 [arXiv:0901.4350] [INSPIRE].
- [44] J.P. Conlon and E. Palti, Gauge threshold corrections for local orientifolds, JHEP 09 (2009) 019 [arXiv:0906.1920] [INSPIRE].
- [45] M. Berg, D. Marsh, L. McAllister and E. Pajer, Sequestering in string compactifications, JHEP 06 (2011) 134 [arXiv:1012.1858] [INSPIRE].
- [46] J.P. Conlon and L.T. Witkowski, Scattering and sequestering of blow-up moduli in local string models, JHEP 12 (2011) 028 [arXiv:1109.4153] [INSPIRE].
- [47] M. Berg, J.P. Conlon, D. Marsh and L.T. Witkowski, Superpotential de-sequestering in string models, JHEP 02 (2013) 018 [arXiv:1207.1103] [INSPIRE].
- [48] S. Krippendorf and F. Quevedo, Metastable SUSY breaking, de Sitter moduli stabilisation and Kähler moduli inflation, JHEP 11 (2009) 039 [arXiv:0901.0683] [INSPIRE].
- [49] L. Aparicio, M. Cicoli, S. Krippendorf, A. Maharana, F. Muia and F. Quevedo, Sequestered de Sitter string models: LHC phenomenology, to appear.
- [50] M. Cicoli, J.P. Conlon and F. Quevedo, General analysis of LARGE volume scenarios with string loop moduli stabilisation, JHEP 10 (2008) 105 [arXiv:0805.1029] [INSPIRE].

- [51] S. Gukov, C. Vafa and E. Witten, CFT's from Calabi-Yau four folds, Nucl. Phys. B 584 (2000) 69 [Erratum ibid. B 608 (2001) 477] [hep-th/9906070] [INSPIRE].
- [52] D. Baumann et al., On D3-brane potentials in compactifications with fluxes and wrapped D-branes, JHEP 11 (2006) 031 [hep-th/0607050] [INSPIRE].
- [53] J.P. Conlon, A. Maharana and F. Quevedo, Towards realistic string vacua, JHEP 05 (2009) 109 [arXiv:0810.5660] [INSPIRE].
- [54] J.P. Conlon, Mirror mediation, JHEP 03 (2008) 025 [arXiv:0710.0873] [INSPIRE].
- [55] P.G. Camara, L.E. Ibáñez and I. Valenzuela, The string origin of SUSY flavor violation, JHEP 10 (2013) 092 [arXiv:1307.3104] [INSPIRE].
- [56] M. Cicoli, M. Goodsell, J. Jaeckel and A. Ringwald, Testing string vacua in the lab: from a hidden CMB to dark forces in flux compactifications, JHEP 07 (2011) 114 [arXiv:1103.3705] [INSPIRE].
- [57] J.P. Conlon, D. Cremades and F. Quevedo, Kähler potentials of chiral matter fields for Calabi-Yau string compactifications, JHEP 01 (2007) 022 [hep-th/0609180] [INSPIRE].
- [58] L. Aparicio, D.G. Cerdeno and L.E. Ibáñez, Modulus-dominated SUSY-breaking soft terms in F-theory and their test at LHC, JHEP 07 (2008) 099 [arXiv:0805.2943] [INSPIRE].
- [59] V.S. Kaplunovsky and J. Louis, Model independent analysis of soft terms in effective supergravity and in string theory, Phys. Lett. B 306 (1993) 269 [hep-th/9303040] [INSPIRE].
- [60] A. Brignole, L.E. Ibáñez and C. Muñoz, Towards a theory of soft terms for the supersymmetric standard model, Nucl. Phys. B 422 (1994) 125 [Erratum ibid. B 436 (1995) 747] [hep-ph/9308271] [INSPIRE].
- [61] E. Dudas and S.K. Vempati, Large D-terms, hierarchical soft spectra and moduli stabilisation, Nucl. Phys. B 727 (2005) 139 [hep-th/0506172] [INSPIRE].
- [62] J.E. Kim and H.P. Nilles, The μ problem and the strong CP problem, Phys. Lett. B 138 (1984) 150 [INSPIRE].
- [63] G.F. Giudice and A. Masiero, A natural solution to the  $\mu$  problem in supergravity theories, Phys. Lett. **B 206** (1988) 480 [INSPIRE].
- [64] G. Lopes Cardoso, D. Lüst and T. Mohaupt, Moduli spaces and target space duality symmetries in (0,2) Z<sub>N</sub> orbifold theories with continuous Wilson lines, Nucl. Phys. B 432 (1994) 68 [hep-th/9405002] [INSPIRE].
- [65] I. Antoniadis, E. Gava, K.S. Narain and T.R. Taylor, Effective μ term in superstring theory, Nucl. Phys. B 432 (1994) 187 [hep-th/9405024] [INSPIRE].
- [66] A. Brignole, L.E. Ibáñez, C. Muñoz and C. Scheich, Some issues in soft SUSY breaking terms from dilaton/moduli sectors, Z. Phys. C 74 (1997) 157 [hep-ph/9508258] [INSPIRE].
- [67] A. Brignole, L.E. Ibáñez and C. Muñoz, Orbifold induced μ term and electroweak symmetry breaking, Phys. Lett. B 387 (1996) 769 [hep-ph/9607405] [INSPIRE].
- [68] A. Hebecker, A.K. Knochel and T. Weigand, A shift symmetry in the Higgs sector: experimental hints and stringy realizations, JHEP 06 (2012) 093 [arXiv:1204.2551] [INSPIRE].
- [69] L.E. Ibáñez and A.M. Uranga, Instanton induced open string superpotentials and branes at singularities, JHEP 02 (2008) 103 [arXiv:0711.1316] [INSPIRE].

- [70] D. Berenstein, C.P. Herzog, P. Ouyang and S. Pinansky, Supersymmetry breaking from a Calabi-Yau singularity, JHEP 09 (2005) 084 [hep-th/0505029] [INSPIRE].
- [71] M. Graña, MSSM parameters from supergravity backgrounds, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 066006 [hep-th/0209200] [INSPIRE].
- [72] P.G. Camara, L.E. Ibáñez and A.M. Uranga, Flux induced SUSY breaking soft terms, Nucl. Phys. B 689 (2004) 195 [hep-th/0311241] [INSPIRE].
- M. Graña, T.W. Grimm, H. Jockers and J. Louis, Soft supersymmetry breaking in Calabi-Yau orientifolds with D-branes and fluxes, Nucl. Phys. B 690 (2004) 21
   [hep-th/0312232] [INSPIRE].
- [74] M. Schmaltz and W. Skiba, Minimal gaugino mediation, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 095005
   [hep-ph/0001172] [INSPIRE].
- [75] T.T. Yanagida and N. Yokozaki, Focus point in gaugino mediation reconsideration of the fine-tuning problem, Phys. Lett. B 722 (2013) 355 [arXiv:1301.1137] [INSPIRE].
- [76] H. Baer, V. Barger, P. Huang and X. Tata, Natural supersymmetry: LHC, dark matter and ILC searches, JHEP 05 (2012) 109 [arXiv:1203.5539] [INSPIRE].
- [77] O. Loaiza-Brito, J. Martin, H.P. Nilles and M. Ratz, log(M<sub>Pl</sub>/m<sub>3/2</sub>), AIP Conf. Proc. 805 (2006) 198 [hep-th/0509158] [INSPIRE].
- [78] K. Choi, K.S. Jeong, T. Kobayashi and K.-I. Okumura, Little SUSY hierarchy in mixed modulus-anomaly mediation, Phys. Lett. B 633 (2006) 355 [hep-ph/0508029] [INSPIRE].
- [79] C.P. Burgess, A. Maharana and F. Quevedo, *Uber-naturalness: unexpectedly light scalars* from supersymmetric extra dimensions, *JHEP* **05** (2011) 010 [arXiv:1005.1199] [INSPIRE].
- [80] J.R. Ellis, A.B. Lahanas, D.V. Nanopoulos, M. Quirós and F. Zwirner, Supersymmetry breaking in the observable sector of superstring models, Phys. Lett. B 188 (1987) 408 [INSPIRE].
- [81] I. Antoniadis and M. Quirós, Supersymmetry breaking in M-theory and gaugino condensation, Nucl. Phys. B 505 (1997) 109 [hep-th/9705037] [INSPIRE].
- [82] J.Y. Lee, Gaugino masses from gravitino at one loop, arXiv:1302.5846 [INSPIRE].
- [83] J.A. Bagger, T. Moroi and E. Poppitz, Anomaly mediation in supergravity theories, JHEP 04 (2000) 009 [hep-th/9911029] [INSPIRE].
- [84] S.P. de Alwis, On anomaly mediated SUSY breaking, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 105020 [arXiv:0801.0578] [INSPIRE].
- [85] J.P. Conlon, M. Goodsell and E. Palti, Anomaly mediation in superstring theory, Fortsch. Phys. 59 (2011) 5 [arXiv:1008.4361] [INSPIRE].
- [86] T.W. Grimm, J. Keitel, R. Savelli and M. Weissenbacher, From M-theory higher curvature terms to α' corrections in F-theory, arXiv:1312.1376 [INSPIRE].
- [87] D. Junghans and G. Shiu, Brane curvature corrections to the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  type II/F-theory effective action, arXiv:1407.0019 [INSPIRE].
- [88] S. Krippendorf, M.J. Dolan, A. Maharana and F. Quevedo, *D-branes at toric singularities: model building, Yukawa couplings and flavour physics*, *JHEP* 06 (2010) 092 [arXiv:1002.1790] [INSPIRE].
- [89] A. Maharana, Symmetry breaking bulk effects in local D-brane models, JHEP 06 (2012) 002 [arXiv:1111.3047] [INSPIRE].